Women, faith and social cohesion

Models for building cohesive communities

July 2010

This report examines the role of women and faith in building cohesive communities and provides models for developing and evaluating social cohesion activity.

The term 'community cohesion' is increasingly used in UK policy, which promotes local action and meaningful relationships between people from different backgrounds. This research sought to explore how meaningful interaction between individuals and groups is affected by differing access to resources, capacity and power between and within groups. Moreover, the research examined whether different types of cohesion activity are more or less successful in achieving policy goals.

The report:

- identifies four kinds of social cohesion activity, each of which has different aims and promotes different kinds of relationships;
- explores how faith identity and religious beliefs can influence community cohesion and the development of shared values;
- identifies key issues for the inclusion of women within communities and in leadership positions; and
- provides a model for working with individuals and groups to promote local cohesion activity.

Ghazala Mir, John Lawler and Mary Godfrey



Contents

Executive summary	3
1 Introduction	6
2 Social and community cohesion	8
3 Faith and social cohesion	19
4 Women, faith and social cohesion	28
5 Evaluating our methods	37
6 Conclusions	43
Notes	45
References	46
Appendix 1: Key informants and focus groups	49
Appendix 2: Project summaries	50
Acknowledgements	55
About the authors	55

2 Contents

Executive summary

Background

Reduced inequalities and high levels of interaction are typical of socially cohesive societies. The term 'community cohesion' is increasingly used in UK policy and emphasises strengthening civic society through local action. Meaningful interaction and strong, positive relationships between people from different backgrounds are promoted as necessary to secure the vision of 'an integrated and cohesive community'. This research focuses on the role of women and faith groups in cohesion activity. It explores how meaningful interaction between individuals and groups is affected by differing access to resources, capacity and power. It also examines whether different types of 'bridging' activity are more or less successful in achieving policy goals.

The project

A model for evaluating social cohesion activity was developed through qualitative interviews with 25 'key informants' involved in such activity in Bradford. Focus groups explored the views of women from diverse backgrounds about opportunities for and barriers to social cohesion. Participatory methods were used to engage 19 women in Bradford on six projects aiming to bring communities closer together. Project leaders were from Christian, Hindu, Muslim, secular and Sikh backgrounds.

Levels of 'bridging'

The variety of cohesion projects described by key informants could be broadly categorised into four levels of 'bridging' activity:

Level 1: Hospitality

Individuals and groups met in a guest/host relationship, for example during visits to places of worship. Such activity could widen people's experience; however, 'hosts' controlled and set the agenda for the interaction. The need for sensitivity

to cultural differences might be recognised but not openly discussed with 'guests', resulting in tension and non-negotiated decisions about how to handle difference. This could rebound on hosts who might unwittingly overlook key issues. At worst, such interactions could reinforce existing divisions when visitors felt unwelcome, or when interaction did not move beyond, or even to the point of, sharing physical space.

Level 2: Information gathering/ awareness raising

This involved educating or raising awareness through positive messages about diversity, for example, through training about diverse faith beliefs or listening to a guest speaker. The value of being able to hear diverse perspectives was recognised but interaction did not develop to the level of dialogue or relationship-building. Nor did this kind of bridging equip people to apply what they had learnt to situations in their daily lives.

Level 3: 'Real meeting'/developing understanding

'Understanding one another' and seeking 'common ground' could support recognition of common humanity and create solidarity. Relationships could develop through dialogue and through people 'having fun together', learning about each other in ways that created trust. Such activities provided opportunities to increase mutual understanding and challenged threatening stereotypes. However, the focus on 'common ground' did not support movement towards discussing tensions between groups that were barriers to cohesion.

Level 4: Meeting as equals

This kind of interaction implied expectations of equality between all parties. The importance of being able to 'listen to one another well' and allow expressions of concern was key to moving beyond common ground. Honesty and trust enabled interactions to 'enter a different level' and allowed people to be themselves with those

Executive summary 3

who might not share their perspectives.

Discussing conflicting views could involve emotional responses or 'part truths' that, when brought together, could help create a more complete picture for participants and a new equilibrium in power structures. The process highlighted the value of diversity through its potential to create a more robust understanding. It could also lead to mutual growth and development of shared values to address social injustices.

This level was considerably harder to achieve and is significantly different from current policy formulations, which focus on identifying 'common ground' in relation to existing values (i.e. Level 3 interactions). Where it occurred, skilled facilitation of the process could be necessary.

Bridging within faith communities

The model for evaluating cohesion activity is relevant between subgroups of the same community as well as between different communities. Exclusion within religious communities could be a result of traditional practices that particularly affected women, young people and converts. Faith values could be drawn on to challenge such exclusion and to rally support for new relationships between subgroups. However, internal community space to influence attitudes could be lacking.

Faith and social cohesion

Faith motivated many key informants and project leaders who considered values promoted through religion important for cohesion. Diversity existed within and between faith communities, however, and cohesion activity with an 'interfaith' label could make those who were not part of a religious community feel excluded.

While faith communities could be seen as important for implementing cohesion policy, faith perspectives were marginalised in practice and policy development. Key informants highlighted the need to improve engagement and decision-making so that shared values could be negotiated.

Acknowledging faith identity was considered important in work promoting community cohesion. A 'safe space' could be created by allaying fears

about conversion and accommodating difference. Some focus group participants felt they needed more knowledge of their own faith before they could engage at this level. Faith-based education and knowledge could build confidence to bridge and reduce fears about exposure to conversion. However, the space to acquire such knowledge and organise faith-based groups could be denied in both faith and non-faith settings.

Women and social cohesion

Failure to focus specifically on involving women in formal structures could marginalise and silence their voices. Providing childcare and ensuring that meetings did not conflict with school times were important to engaging women. Existing structures could involve a predetermined agenda and processes, however. These maintained the status quo so that even when women got involved there was no great difference in how power was exercised. Existing structures may need to be reviewed with input from women as a more effective way of creating sustainable change.

Women and leadership

Women sometimes exercised leadership individually, but primarily this was on a collective basis. Leadership could be distributed throughout particular groups with shared interests and was not reliant on formal leadership positions.

Influence was viewed as being relationshipbased, developing primarily from people having the opportunity to interact in the right surroundings with an appropriate atmosphere to develop their own agenda of activity.

Women who empowered others needed support to deal with the resistance this might create. Overlap between project work and paid work or membership of a formal organisation was vital to the success of projects and could prevent 'burn out'. Infrastructures from which bridging activity could take place were not well developed or resourced within minority faith communities. This significantly affected the level of bridging activity women within them could achieve. A high level of support and facilitation was needed from research partners when

organisational support was absent. Access to space to carry out projects was also dependent on organisational backing.

Replicating the participatory approach

Participatory methods offer a valuable way to engage people in cohesion activity, corresponding to Level 4 interaction. The following guidelines are drawn from the study:

- Work with a range of community organisations to engage local people and generate an overview of activity under way.
- Identify project ideas based on concrete experiences and support individuals who can bring 'new blood' to the existing pool of those engaged in social cohesion activity.
- Provide financial support to community organisations and project leaders. Involve all partners in decision-making and create a level playing field to ensure participants feel in control. Be aware that project leaders may understand suggestions from more powerful partners as directives; care should be taken to ensure they do not lose their ideas about what will work.
- Encourage project leaders to plan with people from other cultural backgrounds when they intend to deliver intercultural projects. Be prepared to facilitate the relationships between them particularly when some are more powerful than others.
- Encourage project leaders to develop Level 4 relationships with each other and with project participants.
- Support and equip project leaders to plan, deliver and evaluate their projects. If necessary provide institutional backing to help them gain legitimacy and space for their activity.

- Provide ongoing support, for example through workshops and regular contact. Use workshops as a way of sharing problems and developing solutions.
- Allow sufficient time for activities developmental and relationship building activity is time-consuming.
- Address evaluation early on. Encourage honest assessment of the work, assuring confidentiality and emphasising a wish to learn from what is done.
- Support project leaders to engage with the reflection and evaluation process, for example through focus groups and individual interviews.
- Provide information/accessible papers about funding opportunities and social cohesion activity. Support people to apply for funding if necessary.
- Produce summaries of projects with descriptions of the process and key learning outcomes and make this easily accessible to others.

Conclusions

'Strong, positive relationships' can result when people move beyond contact and consensus to resolving conflicts and addressing social injustice. A more equitable distribution of resources, capacity and power is needed to enable women and faith communities, particularly those from minority backgrounds, to take on a 'bridging' role. A climate of trust is need for interaction that leads to shared values and the resolution of real issues. Such relationships are needed between diverse individuals and groups, but also between social groups and statutory authorities, including government.

Executive summary 5

1 Introduction

It is suggested that reduced inequalities and high levels of social interaction are typical of cohesive societies (see Granovetter, 1973; Kearns and Forrest, 2000). Social exclusion, which reflects inequalities, has been defined as lack of access to social, economic and political integration and power (Room, 1995) that may find spatial expression in particular localities (Madanipour et al., 1998). Faith congregations and organisations may contribute both to social cohesion and exclusion from participatory processes (Furbey and Macey, 2005; Furbey et al., 2006), reflecting strong ties within homogeneous groups and poor bridging ties across diverse groups (see Coleman, 1990; Putnam, 2000).

Despite evidence that women may play a central role in bringing conflict between communities to a conclusion (see Darlow *et al.*, 2005), the voice of women, particularly those from deprived backgrounds, is commonly absent from decision-making processes both within and outside faith communities (Furbey *et al.*, 2006) and in relation to regeneration initiatives (Scharf *et al.*, 2005). Furthermore, while women are often key players in the building of social capital in localities (Cattell, 2001; Forrest and Kearns, 1999), this may assume relational forms rather than be invested in formal political activity to secure change at the wider community level (Lowndes, 2006; Mir and Tovey, 2003).

Current knowledge about how to achieve social cohesion in practice is sparse, and this study aimed to address the issues outlined above. We also wished to explore the use of participatory methods in relation to building capacity for leadership and collaboration within and across communities.

Our approach

To provide evidence that will be useful for social cohesion policy and practice

We aimed to develop a model for evaluating social cohesion activity from the collective knowledge of people already involved in carrying out such activity. These 'key informants' were predominantly women (see Appendix 1). We aimed to use this model to work with local women in Bradford on their ideas and to learn from the projects they developed to bring communities together. We also spoke to focus groups of women from diverse backgrounds who were not necessarily engaged in intercultural activity to explore their views on the opportunities and barriers for social cohesion.

To develop partnerships with local organisations and local women to develop local solutions

We worked with two community-based organisations, Active Faith Communities and Womenzone, to develop our research ideas and aimed to carry out the study with their involvement. We also aimed to develop partnerships with local women whom we supported to work on projects they had identified as helpful in bringing communities closer together. We wished to mobilise interest and energy that already existed in the locality using a participatory approach (Rifkin et al., 2000) and attempted to ensure engagement on equal terms between these partners and the research team.

We wished to draw on the knowledge and experience of local women in Bradford about what would work in relation to social cohesion. We intended to support women in carrying out projects that challenged social exclusion and promoted social cohesion, and to increase their access to resources and networks that would help them.

The six projects

The following six projects run by women in Bradford were supported by the research team and partners as part of the study.

1. Lyrics 'n Friendship (Project leader: Muslim interfaith volunteer')

The project leader (also a key informant and involved in the Sharing Stories project) arranged for

6 Introduction

two Canadian artists to perform to assemblies in eight Bradford schools, some with mainly Pakistani and some with mainly English pupils. Performances focused on the theme of building bridges between people from different backgrounds. Songs based on universal themes such as truth and justice were used to emphasise common humanity and promote mutual understanding.

2. Sahara Mental Health Support Group (Project leaders: Christian and Muslim community volunteers)

Two project leaders (one a key informant) combined forces on a project to support women with mental health problems. They were encouraged to deliver the project in Keighley so that this area of Bradford District was represented in the research. Women who attended and the two project leaders were from different faith backgrounds. The aim was to develop mutual support and trust within the group.

3. Stepping Stones (Project leader: Muslim community volunteer)

The project leader (also a key informant) was encouraged to develop a project idea based on issues she raised relating to her local school and the lack of influence she and other Muslim parents had over its activities. She and other women involved in an English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) class at the school developed ideas for a series of nine sessions to equip them with the skills and confidence to interact with school staff on issues of concern to parents. The sessions were held in the school as women would already be there for the ESOL class. They covered a range of issues including confidence building, supporting children at school, dealing with racism and sex education. Session leaders were drawn from local Muslim women with relevant experience as well as school staff.

4. UMMAH: Understanding Multicultural Marriages, Achieving Happiness (Project leader: Muslim community worker²)

Three women (who were also focus group participants) wanted to support Muslim women converts to deal with relationship difficulties with either their own or their husbands' families. Two of the applicants moved out of Bradford and one

continued to work on this alone. After initially trying and failing to involve husbands, she and the group focused on equipping the women with conflict resolution skills through work with Relate. The project also supported women to produce a publication raising awareness about their own and their children's experiences of multicultural families. This project leader also became involved in the Sharing Stories project.

5. Young Families in BD3 (Project leaders: four Christian community workers, a Hindu community worker, four Muslim community workers and a Sikh community volunteer).

Women from six different community centres (two of whom were also key informants) aimed to facilitate the movement of women between different centres predominantly used by particular communities. A focus on sessions involving mothers and toddlers developed, led by staff at one of the Christian centres. The aim was to increase relationships and understanding between mothers and children from diverse backgrounds.

6. Sharing Stories (Project leaders: one Christian and two Muslim community volunteers, one Christian interfaith worker)

This project was developed from ideas put forward by two project leaders (both key informants) which did not satisfy the criteria for cohesion activity developed from key informant interviews. They were supported by another two project leaders (also both key informants) to deliver a series of three workshops for women, focusing on themes of common interest: neighbours, climate change and families. The sessions aimed to support women to develop common ground with women from different faith backgrounds.

Introduction 7

2 Social and community cohesion

Policy context

Concepts of 'social cohesion' and 'community cohesion' are linked with public policy and academic debates about social exclusion, poverty, employment, citizenship and morality (Levitas, 2005) and with the greater diversity of local communities within a global world (Parekh, 2000). Policy definitions of cohesion in the UK context have increasingly adopted the term 'community cohesion', locating the focus of communality at local or community level and the emphasis on strengthening 'civic' or 'civil' society on action within localities or communities. Thus, from the early Guidance on Community Cohesion published by the Local Government Association (2002) to the report of the Commission on Integration and Cohesion (2007a) and the government response to it (Department of Communities and Local Government, 2008d), emphasis is primarily on building 'cohesive, empowered and active communities' within and from diversity through a sense of 'shared futures' (see 'Four key principles' below). Even so, there have also been significant shifts in thinking about community cohesion (Institute of Community Cohesion, 2010).

- Four key principles
- A sense of shared futures: an emphasis on articulating what binds communities together rather than what differences divide them, and prioritising a shared future over divided legacies.
- 2. Emphasis on a new model of rights and responsibilities one that makes clear both a sense of citizenship at national and local level, and the obligations that go along with membership of a community, both for individuals or groups.

- 3. An ethics of civility that recognises that alongside the need to strengthen the social bonds within groups, the pace of change across the country reconfigures local communities rapidly, and that mutual respect is fundamental to issues of integration and cohesion.
- 4. A commitment to equality that sits alongside the need to deliver visible social justice, to prioritise transparency and fairness, and build trust in the institutions that arbitrate between groups.

Our Shared Future (Commission on Integration and Cohesion, 2007a)

Underpinning these four key principles is a more explicit articulation of the following approaches:

- Understanding and action on community cohesion must respond to local contextual factors and a sense of local specificity.
- Individuals have multiple identities opening up opportunities for creating mutual interdependencies through shared common experiences.
- Approaches to cohesion should be driven by a whole community approach.
- Cohesion must be linked with reducing inequalities.

Further, in embracing the Commission's findings and recommendations, government policy highlights what it regards as the elements necessary to secure the vision of 'an integrated and cohesive community', summarised in 'three foundations' and

'three ways of living together' (Department of Communities and Local Government, 2008d):

- people from different backgrounds having similar life opportunities;
- people knowing their rights and responsibilities;
- people trusting one another and trusting local institutions to act fairly;
- a shared future vision and sense of belonging;
- a focus on what new and existing communities have in common, alongside a recognition of the value of diversity;
- strong and positive relationships between people from different backgrounds.

However, while the vision of harmonious and reciprocal relationships between individuals and groups defined by their attachment to place is laudable, it also obscures the very real inequalities that exist between and within groups, within and across localities, and which contribute to, and exacerbate, tensions, mistrust and conflict. From the perspective of community cohesion, three sets of questions are posed: first, how is meaningful interaction between individuals and groups affected by differing access to resources, capacity and power within localities as well as between them? Second, are there types of 'bridging' activity (i.e. activity promoting interaction between people from different backgrounds) that are more or less successful in achieving policy goals? Third, what kind of 'linking' action is required (i.e. action that connects actors of different degrees of institutional power, whether local, regional or national; see Szretet and Woolcock, 2004) to achieve structural change that reduces inequalities?

Findings from key informants: a model for 'bridging' activity

Through our work with 'key informants' – individuals involved in social cohesion activity in the fieldwork area for our study – we were able to establish a model for evaluating different levels of interaction,

and the quality of relationships involved. The variety of activities described by key informants, which aimed to achieve the government policy aims outlined on pp8–9 (Department of Communities and Local Government, 2008d), could be broadly categorised into four levels of 'bridging' activity. These four levels are outlined below.

Level 1: Hospitality

At this level of interaction, individuals and groups met in a guest/host relationship. For example, visits to places of worship aimed to make these sites more accessible to people from diverse communities who might never have previously seen the inside of a church, temple or mosque. This kind of activity could be seen as valuable in terms of widening people's experience; however, those who had control of the site or event set the agenda for what the interaction would entail. The need for sensitivity to cultural differences might be recognised by hosts but not openly discussed with members of the visiting group, resulting in tension about potential issues and nonnegotiated decisions about how to handle these:

when the ladies from the temple came over here, you know, I was quite hung up on how we had our seating arrangement. And you know, did we put half on this table ... and then, you know, kind of stepped back from that and thought "well actually no one really wants to be forced to sit next to somebody that they don't know and they can't actually converse with". That was really quite an awkward situation.

Christian key informant: interfaith worker

Decision-making of this kind could rebound on host facilitators who might overlook key issues affecting the visitors. For example, a series of evening meetings for women organised during the fasting month of Ramadan precluded women from Muslim communities taking part. Nevertheless, rather than recognising her own role in making engagement unlikely, the programme organiser felt that Muslim women were 'reluctant to engage with other faiths'.

At worst, such activities could reinforce existing social divisions between groups when visitors were not made to feel welcome and interaction did

not move beyond, or even to the point of, sharing physical space:

all of the women who were asylum seekers were in one room and all of other people were in one room and when the music started it was just crowded and really awkward ... Here they are trying to invite people in but have they actually prepared the space, so those women and children can come in and not feel like they're either separated in a corner or feel just really awkward ... it's one thing to say we're going to invite people and I think it's a completely other thing is how do we welcome them and how do we try to make them feel comfortable?

Christian focus group participant

Level 2: Information gathering/ awareness raising

This level involved educating or raising awareness about diverse communities through giving positive messages, for example, training events about diverse faith beliefs or listening to guest speakers presenting their perspectives on social, political or religious issues, with the opportunity to ask and answer questions. Participants could be drawn from local communities where the initiative had developed from a local group, as well as from all over the city where a group with a wider remit was facilitating the activity. In either case, the value of being able to hear such perspectives was recognised but did not develop to the level of dialogue or relationship building. Nor did this kind of bridging equip people to apply what they had learnt to situations in their daily lives:

they might not use the information straightaway but a year, or even months down the line, they might think back, "gosh yes, I went on that training day and this is what I learned" and "oh yeah, I have an understanding of" or "this is why they're celebrating their festival", or "this is why they're acting or they're going on pilgrimage" and things like that.

Muslim key informant: interfaith worker

Level 3: 'Real meeting'/developing understanding

Key informants described this kind of meeting

in relational terms: 'getting to know' and 'understanding one another' as groups or individuals. Such interaction could be informal and everyday as well as facilitated. Coming together on issues of mutual importance and seeking 'common ground' was felt by a number of key informants to support recognition of common humanity, increased dignity and respect and to create solidarity. For example, a key informant described friends from a variety of backgrounds rallying round to comfort her when her mother had died abroad; disasters, such as an earthquake in Pakistan, led to different community groups joining forces to fundraise as well as pray together.

Apart from dialogue, relationships could also develop through people 'having fun together' and learning about each other in ways that created trust. Shared activities provided opportunities to raise awareness that increased understanding. This challenged the stereotypes that created feelings of threat, such as those of Muslim terrorists or Western promiscuity, which were often promoted through media influence:

so that someone who sees a man with a big beard and in his Pakistani clothes, they don't think "oh! I saw someone like him on the television last night. He must be dodgy" ...

Because they've got nothing to counteract that.
... but you can go "well I've seen this picture, and that wasn't very good from the media, but I've also got this other picture and this experience that I know is very positive, so therefore everybody who looks like that isn't like that".

Christian key informant: community worker

Such meetings could be everyday or routine and linked to the reality of people's lives. For example, positive experiences of living in close contact with people from different religious backgrounds resulted in more positive attitudes:

you can probably get some real elder[s] that probably wouldn't get on. And yet you can have the opposite as well because you've got to remember that people that were involved in the 1947 [partition of India] lived together as brothers and sisters. You know they had no issues whatsoever. Hindus, Muslims, Sikhs living

together, they used to get on like whoa, you know, like brothers and sisters

Sikh key informant: interfaith worker

Level 3 activity could also be facilitated; for example, members of a church and mosque ran sessions to help people 'rub alongside each other' in an area where there had been little or negative interaction between diverse groups of residents. However, while discussion and meetings to help develop positive relationships could have an impact on those taking part, they necessarily involved a minority of people rather than whole communities. Furthermore, the focus on 'common ground' did not support movement towards discussing conflicts and tensions between groups which might continue to cause barriers to cohesion.

Level 4: Meeting as equals

This kind of interaction implied recognition of citizenship rights and expectations of 'a level playing field' with parties in equal positions of power, rather than acceptance of differing social status. Key informants described the importance of being able to 'listen to one another well' and allow expressions of concern as a means of moving beyond the consensus position of common ground. Discussion of conflicting views could involve emotional responses or 'part truths' that, when brought together, could help to create a more complete picture of events and situations for participants, and a new equilibrium in power structures.

One key informant, for example, described how she had organised a community meeting following raids on the homes of Muslim families in an area of Bradford. She was appalled at the way in which these families had been treated and gathered support to mobilise and educate local people, and demand an explanation from the local police:

dragging them and pushing them ... in this day and age how dare people think they can get away with this? ... I rung one of the barristers in London and ... you know if anything happens like this again you need to know your rights ... we held the police accountable on that day ... 150 people – packed. And that was just within four or five days we managed to organise an event like that just to show, you know, just a minute we're

not going to take this, next time you do something like this you'll think twice ... it's happening in Beeston, it's happening in Manchester, Birmingham. Who's to say I won't be raided tomorrow?

Muslim key informant: interfaith volunteer

Not only did this meeting highlight the expectation of the community that it would be treated fairly and protected rather than targeted by the police, but it also contained the potential violence that could have erupted because of the anger that the raid caused:

If you are sensitive and you accommodate you know these young teenagers or adults and you provide safe space for them and you hear them out and you listen to them and you take their ideas and you say we'll try to help you and support you, you know those ideas and frustrations have to be listened to. If they are not listened [to] they'll take things into their own hands and that's what you don't want happening. Young teenagers taking things into their own hands. They've got to feel there is a space for them to let their frustrations out.

Muslim key informant: interfaith volunteer

Honesty about difficult issues supported interactions to 'enter a different level' and allowed people to be themselves with those who might not share their perspectives. This was considerably harder to achieve than other levels of interaction and it was recognised that some groups and individuals might not be ready for such interaction. Where it took place, skilled facilitation of the process was necessary:

to give them just enough of a moving out of their comfort zone to have started to challenge something, but not so much that they rebel and never want to do that again

Christian key informant: cohesion worker

This process corresponds to what the Commission for Racial Equality has described as 'growth interactions' (2007). It could highlight the value of diversity through its potential to create a deeper and more robust understanding between individuals

and groups so that 'people tell their part of the reality and together we make something of a whole'.

Relevance of the model

Key informants indicated the need for improved interactions between a range of different social groups extending beyond faith communities. This suggests that the framework for understanding cohesion activity outlined above could apply beyond interfaith work to other areas of bridging such as intergenerational or gender-related interactions.

The model is also relevant to how key informants understood dynamics in UK society as a whole. Some key informants felt that weak minority communities worked against social cohesion. 'Jostling for position' against other minorities for favour with the dominant community, 'having to be nice to them' and accepting the position of 'guest' prevented misunderstandings and injustices being discussed or addressed. These individuals felt that citizenship rights needed to be exercised if they were to be retained and that members of minority groups should be considered as part of the wider community rather than 'pigeon-holed' because of colour, religion or background. One key informant described the riots in Bradford as 'a form of self-harm' - a reflection of the lack of voice and power among the social groups involved and the only way of being noticed.

While community activists recognised and appreciated the fact that rights in the UK may be greater than those granted in some other parts of the world, government policy on cohesion could create mistrust, particularly among Muslim respondents, by conflating cohesion and national security issues. Cohesion funding that carried the 'Preventing Violent Extremism' label, and the implication that violent extremism existed only in Muslim communities, was seen as an example of the failure of policy to protect citizenship rights and equity for Muslims in the UK (see also Khan, 2009). The duality of this approach was rejected by a number of key informants involved in promoting cohesion.

Using the model helps further understanding about such dynamics. For example, government policy describes some of the perspectives of those who disagree with its position as 'misinformed' and

sets out plans to 'explain and debate' the policy position (Home Office, 2009). This suggests that a combination of Level 2 and Level 4 interaction will be used to address tensions arising from the strategy. Explaining the government's position is unlikely to be helpful, however, if those who disagree with the policy feel their perspectives have already been dismissed. Steps to establish common ground between diverse perspectives and to create the climate of trust needed are likely to be important if debates are to lead to shifts in position that can help resolve tensions. In terms of its own guidance, the plans will have little effect if they 'impose pre-set actions and don't really listen to participants' (Department of Communities and Local Government, 2008e).

Moving between different levels of interaction

Key informants often recognised that there was a progression between different stages of interaction and that facilitation could involve supporting people to move to a deeper level of relations:

you could start off with something like that where people come together because of something, because of a common ... hobby or whatever and thereafter, through that, would be able to build up ... relationships with other people

Muslim key informant: community volunteer

Cohesion activity could progress from one level to another within the same project in some cases, whereas some activity was more focused on one level of relations. The evidence suggests that while lower levels of interaction might be inevitable at the beginning of engagement activity, it is important to recognise the limitations of this and to support movement to deeper levels of interaction over time.

Key informants described the development of interactions that built relationships as necessarily long-term and small-scale. This highlighted a tension between the need 'to change mindsets' through individual relationships and the fact that the aims of cohesion activity were relevant to the whole population. Large one-off events were considered unhelpful, however, unless these were organised in the context of a wider strategy,

and widespread replication of small-scale local activity was considered the best way of increasing cohesion. The need for political leadership both nationally and at a local level to support this was emphasised by a number of key informants.

Facilitation

Key informants indicated that all levels of interaction could occur between individuals but interaction between diverse groups needed facilitation. Facilitators required good communication skills and an ability to 'grasp things more deeply'. An awareness and understanding of different faith groups' beliefs was considered important but only useful if this led to acceptance, openness and a 'warm heart'.

Reasons for taking on the bridging role could differ because of the social context of individual facilitators. Those involved with young people or marginalised groups, either through their work or personal lives, often referred to a concern for social justice and a better future. Curiosity, goodwill and generosity and the availability of funding also motivated key informants to take on this role (see 'Reasons for taking on the bridging role').

Level 4 facilitators often acted out of concern even when they lacked influence. Rallying support through mobilising others helped create credibility through a critical mass that would be taken seriously. Where individuals were too fearful to mobilise, community organisations could provide vital backing to individuals who raised concerns. For example, one key informant found she was the only parent willing to object to a local primary school after Muslim children were served non-halal food twice in succession. Other parents clearly saw their position within the school, and indeed within the UK, as that of guests who had no right to complain. Drawing on support from the local mosque helped this key informant address the power imbalance she faced in relation to the school:

They are afraid because this is a white man's country and everything belongs to them and they fear that if they come forward the children will be mistreated. Like if I go to [key informant's] house and touch something there without permission and whatever she puts in front of me I will have to eat it.

... power is very important. The first time when [Muslim key informant] spoke to the teachers they didn't take any notice of her, the second time round when she spoke to them and they knew they were related to the mosque and she knew she had a position there they took it more importantly. So position is very important and if people are in certain positions and they have power to do something then they should get together and do it and not be scared.

Muslim key informants: community volunteers

Reasons for taking on the 'bridging' role

a commitment to human rights, which again I think is a moral and spiritual issue. And, therefore there is a commitment to race equality and a commitment to anti-discrimination

Non-religious key informant: interfaith worker

there was very small grant available and then [key informant] approached me Hindu key informant: community worker

we're aware we have as a national church institutional influence, we've sought to use that with generosity, so where people have been marginalised we've used it Christian key informant: church leader

I want people to know what Islam is really like. Rather than read it in the media. I think the best way to do that is to go and talk to people and be yourself and let them see who you are so that they don't have any myths or misunderstandings about you. And once you've done that then you can go on to work together on other issues. Muslim key informant: community activist

It's that thing of wanting to find out more about people from other countries that includes their faith but it's not just about their faith. It's about their social way of living and their food and, and these things are often interwoven with faith but they're not necessarily about faith.

Non-religious key informant: community activist

it's valuable, children gain a lot from first-hand experience and being able to talk to a member of that community, whichever community it is. Whether it's the Mandir, or the Mosque or whatever ... we get requests from all kinds of organisations

Sikh focus group participant

Activism could, however, have adverse consequences for those in minority positions, leading them to seek anonymity. Fear of such consequences could also lead to individuals employed as facilitators failing to act. The key informant above reported that a school liaison officer failed to act as a 'bridge' between Muslim parents and the school, while encouraging parents to take action themselves, as she 'feared losing the job' and was 'not really empowering the community'.

Similarly, some individuals responsible for leading cohesion work appeared to lack clarity about the aims of this activity and struggled with some of its concepts. A number also said they held 'unpalatable thoughts' that they would not air publicly, as they were aware that their views were not generally accepted but were unclear about why. Some of these views would have the consequence of preventing the social inclusion of certain, particularly Muslim, groups within mainstream society. Decisions about excluding such groups were implemented without open discussion:

basically, there seems to be an acceptable amount of difference, and if you're outside that acceptable amount of difference, you either have to keep quiet, or you are excluded ... some situations were brought to a conclusion because it was seen better, because [members of Hizb ut Tahrir] had been coming ... they increased the quality and the broadness of who was involved in those events, giving it validity, um, and basically they come from

opinions that are not really for want a funny word to use in a situation, 'kosher', you know?

Christian key informant: cohesion worker

This kind of exclusion was linked by some key informants to fear of opening up discussions. However, as noted above, the lack of space afforded to dialogue with such groups limited the potential to develop more inclusive positions for everyone.

Key informants felt local activity was more representative than formal structures and district wide events that attracted middle-class participants: 'you don't see a lot of new blood'. Citywide forums could be seen as 'a politically correct tick box' rather than relevant to social cohesion and some key informants felt that city-wide interfaith leadership lacked clarity about its own structure, aims and purpose. Attracting new participants to formal meetings was considered more likely if there had been some relationship building with potential members beforehand. Top-down structures were therefore seen as unhelpful if they lacked a link to local communities where such relationships could develop between forum members.

Findings from cohesion projects

For project leaders the concept of social cohesion was related to people living together peacefully, with mutual respect, understanding and acceptance of diverse cultures and context. However, the ability to promote this vision was limited by the context within which project leaders worked.

Capacity to 'bridge'

It became clear during implementation of project plans that organisation and capacity within communities influenced how much project leaders could effectively 'bridge' to other groups and take on the role of equal partners with others. Project leaders at the six community centres originally involved in 'Young Families in BD3' were not on equal terms with regards to resources and capacity for leadership. The idea for the project was developed in consultation between the groups but led by a centre that could provide a worker with dedicated time. The lead centre, a church-

based group, proposed that the project should focus on mother and toddler groups as this was an activity the centre wished to pursue in any case. This was agreed but did not prove feasible in practice, mainly because only the lead centre had an existing group of mothers and toddlers.

The Hindu Cultural Centre and Sikh Temple both dropped out of the project because they did not feel it would be possible to set up such a group with the resources they currently had. Two other centres, which attracted mostly Muslim service users, attempted to engage with the project with children from their crèches but this proved problematic in terms of maintaining the continuity of women involved. In addition, these centres were short staffed and so could not cofacilitate the sessions; women from these centres who might need support to become involved in the group consequently did not have access to workers who could provide such support.

This situation highlights a weakness in policy proposals to support only funding within communities ('bonding social capital') in exceptional cases, and to instead focus on interfaith activity (Commission on Integration and Cohesion, 2007a; Home Office, 2004b). The need for capacity building within minority faith communities has been highlighted (Community Cohesion Panel, 2006) and our findings indicate that where inequalities in resources and social capital exist between different communities, 'bridging' activity is less likely to involve equal partnerships and is more likely to fail or drift towards a guest/host relationship between the most and least resourced groups (see also Orton, 2008). Evidence from fieldwork indicated that bonding social capital is needed within minority communities, not just to provide the 'confidence to bridge' (Commission on Integration and Cohesion, 2007a) but also the resources and capacity to do so. As the Commission on Integration and Cohesion report (2007a) highlights: 'Those who have bonding social capital are more likely to bridge'.

While four centres did manage to 'host' a session, these did not initially lead to relationships developing between the women who attended. A second church-based centre did, however, successfully set up a mother and toddler group during the period of the project and a turning

point came when the two church-based centres began to focus on working more closely with each other. One of these had managed to attract a significant number of Muslim mothers and children to the group and collaboration led to mother and toddler groups at both church centres becoming a space where intercultural relationships between the mothers could develop:

we had a toddlers inspection the other week didn't we, and there was Ofsted in it and the lady who came she said "I've been to playgroups", she said "And we have somebody there", she said "And they're segregated, sort of ... I've come here and I can't believe it", she said "They're all sitting down on the floor chatting to one another about babies ... Absolutely wonderful", she said "The mixture sat together at the tables, laughing, talking, discussing different things", she said "I have not seen this in such a group that's multicultural".

Young Mums in BD3: project leader

Relationships were being formed by women within the project and the outcome showed that bonding between the two Christian groups had been a means by which one learnt from the success of the other and increased its own capacity for such work as a result. Bridging between the project leaders from other centres, however, had not been as successful because of the unequal partnership caused by lack of resources in Sikh, Hindu and Muslim centres. This resulted in problems with carrying out the work and too high a reliance on the lead organisation to implement the project plans, with no consequent capacity building for these partners. The dynamics of this project help explain 'funding bias', with most funding for interfaith activity being allocated to organisations that already have the most developed infrastructure, rather than building capacity within minority ethnic and faith communities (Commission on Integration and Cohesion, 2007b).

The backing of a strong organisation from which project leaders could 'bridge' was again shown to be vital in the Stepping Stones project. The project leader was a parent at the school that she wanted to involve in her planned activity. However, she was unable to interest school staff in this until she

involved the research team, who wrote asking the school to participate and met to discuss how the project might take place. The school responded positively when it became clear that there was credible backing for the project leader's work. By the end of the project, school staff also realised that the activity had helped them to extend their networks and fulfil their own statutory requirement to develop activities promoting cohesion. The project became a model of good practice for other schools on how to fulfil this requirement:

It's been important for the school – [we] have spoken to some 90 head teachers from the different ... schools about what we are doing – it's about sharing good practice.

Deputy head teacher: Stepping Stones evaluation focus group

Ability to interact at any of the levels described at the beginning of this chapter (pp9–11) could also be adversely affected by low self-perceptions of social status. In the Stepping Stones project, women initially doubted whether the project could even get off the ground:

They did not think they were important enough to attract the valuable time and attention of those people in higher jobs, especially those who cannot be seen without an appointment.

They felt this project was only a rumour and just mere talk.

Stepping Stones project report

For the project leader, educating women in the group was an important part of the process of empowering them to engage with the school. Moving a step closer to achieving the three policy foundations of cohesion, outlined at the beginning of this chapter (p9), involved developing the confidence and capacity of women within this group. This supported not only their sense of their own worth but also the worth of the communities of which they were part. Through the sessions, women were able to raise with senior staff incidents of racism and exclusion they had faced within the school and demonstrate expectations of fair treatment in a non-confrontational atmosphere. This introduced Level 4 bridging activity into an

arrangement that had initially begun as a guest/host relationship between the school and the women's group. The sessions led to new forms of engagement between the school and the women, as well as between the school and mosque to which the project leader and a session facilitator were connected, and which many children from the school attended. One of the women in the group was from a Sikh background and the Sikh temple also subsequently approached the school for similar partnership work.

The project led to greater involvement of the project leader and the group itself in the decision-making structures of the school, with consequent benefits for all parents:

Now the head teacher and deputy head come and speak to the class regularly and get comments from the group ... Before the project the school was worried about the expense of translation but I pointed out at the Parents' Forum that parents couldn't support their children if they didn't understand. I became a member of the Forum as a result of the project. The school now involves parents much more than before.

Stepping Stones project report

The social context for bridging

The UMMAH project also demonstrated that the context within which bridging activity took place could also influence ability to carry out such activity and the level of interaction possible. The group of women involved initially struggled to find a space within which they could meet. They were excluded from a community organisation that did not wish to support groups providing faith teaching (which the women felt they needed) as well as a mosque which would only agree to provide space under the auspices of its own group leader. The project leader eventually secured agreement for the group to meet socially at the organisation in which she worked on the understanding that faith teachings would not be provided. The group's position as 'guests' in the centre was firmly established by their lack of involvement in setting these conditions.

The group discussed potential activities to address the hostile relationships they faced as women who had married into Muslim families

- both from their own families, as a result of converting to Islam, or from their in-laws, as a result of their marriage. Ideas ranged across different levels of 'bridging' activity - from raising awareness through social events to meeting other women in local community groups in order to discuss the issues and develop friendships. The project leader felt that the husbands of women who had converted could support improved relationships with in-laws; she collaborated with a Muslim male colleague to plan a social event aimed at discussing issues and solutions with husbands. However, this level of interaction, which attempted to address areas of tension, proved too ambitious. Only one of the husbands agreed to come and one woman reported that her husband 'didn't want anyone interfering in their problems'.

The group consequently decided to step back to a level of 'bridging' that felt more feasible. Instead of dialogue and relationship-building activity (Level 3) they opted to raise awareness through producing a booklet about their experiences which they hoped would dispel some of the myths and ignorance about women in their situation and about Muslim communities (Level 2). They felt the booklet would be useful within and outside the Muslim community, and could be handed to professionals as well as to other women in situations similar to their own.

Local links

The Sharing Stories project focused on Level 3 activity between women from different religious backgrounds on issues of common concern, with project leaders presenting faith perspectives at the beginning of the session to generate discussion. Although tensions and power structures were raised during these discussions, these were located outside the group in relation to fair treatment of people in inner city areas, and were seen as a further area of common ground between the women. At a session on climate change, for example, two members of the group decided they would take the fact that recycling facilities were not available in a deprived area to the Council's Equality Services meeting the following month. The common ground established between the women consequently became a foundation for Level 4 bridging to local government structures.

This city-wide project was not able, however, to maintain the relationships formed between women or the momentum on this issue after the sessions finished as project leaders 'didn't have the links with people to take it forward'.

The importance of local links in bringing people together also became apparent in the Sahara project, which initially aimed to involve women from Bradford. As a result of external political concerns the two project leaders were asked whether they could deliver this in Keighley instead and agreed they would try to do this. However, they had not realised that their local links in one part of Keighley were not helpful in the part where they were able to meet. They consequently struggled to recruit women to the project and had to transport some women from Bradford so that the group could run. Women who attended did benefit from the support provided by other women, all of whom shared the common experience of experiencing mental illness, and took part in activities that provided skills in how to manage their health. Nevertheless, it was clear that moving the activity outside the area in which project leaders' networks were located adversely affected the number of women who could benefit from the project.

Key findings

- The model developed from key informant descriptions of different kinds of 'bridging' activity provides a framework for assessing the degree to which social cohesion activity meets policy aims. The model is relevant to interactions between individuals and groups as well as between citizens and decision-making bodies, including local and national government.
- The ability to work at different levels of interaction needs to be considered in relation to the context in which cohesion activity takes place and 'where people are'. A climate of trust is needed before conflicts and tensions can be discussed constructively.
- Women from minority religious backgrounds have reduced opportunities to lead or become involved in 'bridging' activity. Policy emphasis on interfaith activity does not take account of

the widely differing resources and capacity levels between diverse communities, some of which still need development within to provide a solid foundation from which to 'bridge' to other groups.

 Cohesion activity that addresses power imbalances can increase the social status of marginalised groups. The credibility of such projects is supported by organisational backing and policy support, which make the engagement of powerful groups more likely.

3 Faith and social cohesion³

Policy context

Faith groups have often been at the forefront of social cohesion activity and are perceived as an important resource in terms of implementing cohesion policy (Department of Communities and Local Government, 2008c). However, faith representation is often absent at strategic levels of local decision-making (Department of Communities and Local Government, 2008a). A variety of faith and interfaith networks have been established in recent years in recognition of the role faith groups can play in neighbourhoods (Home Office, 2004b). These have overseen a range of interfaith activities (Local Government Association, 2009), mostly at Levels 1 and 2 of the model for bridging activity presented in Chapter 2. A public place for faith has been called for in relation to mainstream models of health and social care as well as more attention to faith-related issues in staff training (Home Office, 2004a). Recent policy acknowledges that policy-makers have been unsure about the propriety of commissioning services from faith-based groups but that such barriers to commissioning will be removed to support the development of interfaith social action (Department of Communities and Local Government, 2008b).

Cohesion policy also refers to the importance of shared values (Department of Communities and Local Government, 2008c), which are clearly relevant to the issue of faith, and the need to link such values to shared ideas about citizenship and 'Britishness' (Department of Communities and Local Government, 2008d; Home Office, 2009; Home Office, 2004a).

Key informant and focus group views

Bonding and rebonding

As highlighted earlier, findings indicate that bonding within communities is a prerequisite

to effective bridging rather than a parallel or separate activity that can be set aside in relation to building social cohesion. Barriers to bonding within faith communities appeared to mirror those that influenced bridging between communities. Key informants spoke of unequal relationships between different population subgroups and membership criteria that operated to exclude some individuals from community activities:

very often faith communities can disempower women in particular, but lay people in general so that they can hold quite responsible positions at work and ... you know, walk into a faith community situation and I'm talking about very diverse faith communities here, the confidence evaporates at the door

Research partner, Active Faith Communities

in the beginning, I went to the other group and I felt it was only for the practising people and they wouldn't let anybody else participate without being a practising person first. They said you have to pray five times a day you have to do this you have to do that, then we will consider ... So, people like me wished to get involved and were willing but if we don't get a chance to do this then how are we going to become practising?

Muslim key informant: community volunteer

Diverse subgroups within a faith community could engage with each other in ways that demonstrated different levels of power and openness to each other's perspectives. The importance of inclusion and finding common ground between different subgroups of the same faith community was felt by some key informants to be as important as building bridges to other religious groups. Indeed, the model for cohesion activity presented previously seemed to be relevant within as well as between groups.

Exclusion within religious communities could be a result of longstanding practices that had not

adapted to changing contexts. This kind of exclusion could particularly affect women, young people and converts to a faith group, who might be isolated from others within the faith community except on special occasions such as religious festivals. Faith values (as opposed to cultural values derived from other sources) could, however, be drawn on to challenge such exclusion. Converts to Islam, for example, could have a better understanding of religious teachings than individuals born into Muslim families and challenge cultural practices that were felt to limit their involvement within the Muslim community. Distinguishing between religious teachings and such traditional practices was a means of rallying support for new relationships between community subgroups.

there are certain statements in the Qur'an that don't gel with the culture that we've married into. For example, the rights of the woman and the way the women are treated – this kind of whole thing of being treated as though you're someone who does nothing more than perform a series of tasks and this ... on the periphery of your husband's life. And you're not really valued as actually a human ... an intelligent human being who is more to them than someone who cooks etcetera

Muslim converts focus group

At the level of the family, as well as the community, there was evidence that traditional approaches and values were being redefined to take account of the current context within which faith was practised. This redefining of relations within a faith group, which might be termed 'rebonding', was seen as a necessary process of adapting to changes in the UK context and the new situations this created:

You know some people think, you know, you can't, somehow you're watering down your own faith to [engage in interfaith work], though other people would say it's a significant part of faith to do this. So you've got both voices happening and I think it's true in any community you've got different voices saying this is okay and this is not okay.

Christian key informant: interfaith worker

Thus, the diversity within faith communities could be seen as a resource on which community members could draw to support the process of rebonding. However, there could be a lack of internal community space to discuss such issues and influence community attitudes. Where this process was facilitated, it was an important means of challenging exclusion and negotiating the repositioning of different groups within the community:

there were two people that were against [a women's centre] and they kind of fuelled everybody else ... And they really didn't have a reason. Basically, they [inaudible] that "Our women are going to be exploited". And we said "How? In what way do you think they are going to be exploited?" and they really didn't have an answer.

Muslim key informant: community worker

Engaging with faith values

For a number of key informants, faith was the motivating force for their activism, which they conceptualised as contributing to society and social relationships both for their own and future generations. The values promoted through religious teachings were considered important for cohesion and many key informants linked these values to their personal interest in cohesion activity:

my faith teaches me to be a positive contributor to society ... to take an active role, to be a good neighbour, to be a good citizen, so I think the faith is a big driver for me in terms of taking that lead in community cohesion. ... you know, hopefully make a better future for our children.

Muslim key informant: interfaith volunteer

At the same time, there was diversity within faith communities in terms of the significance of religious values, which were not important to everyone:

these days for young people, computer, discos, night clubs, friends ... these sort of values I personally think are more important. Religion – they do value religion, but I think religion comes second. Their friends, computer, games, Nintendo, nightlife, or you know, going out,

holidays ... for majority of young people that I think personally is number one priority, but for the elderly people religion is number one

Hindu key informant: community worker

Religion could also be seen as part of an individual's or community's cultural heritage rather than a set of religious beliefs or practices related to ritual practices or institutions. Affiliation to a religious group and the actual practice of religion could thus be an aspect of diversity within faith communities.

While morality and the aim of trying to 'live a good life' was not seen as the sole preserve of those with a formal religion, some key informants felt that individuals from religious groups could fail to understand this. Our evidence indicated that people with and without religious affiliation often worked together on activities that involved similar aims in terms of cohesion but an 'interfaith' label could make those who were not part of a religious community feel excluded.

As highlighted earlier, common ground was often sought between diverse groups during cohesion activity, and shared values formed part of this. The concept of 'shared values' is promoted in cohesion policy (Department of Communities and Local Government, 2008c) and is also described as 'British values' (Department of Communities and Local Government, 2008d). However, the failure to adequately involve diverse faith groups in defining these values and how they are applied in practice was highlighted:

[they] say we've got faith communities involved but they don't want to hear about faith ... it was a speech of Tony Blair's that was about civil society and the common good and ... shared common values. And about well-being and justice and peace and my response in my head was "Yes we have common values about justice and peace but if I were a Muslim I would be thinking where's justice for the Palestinians? And does the justice and peace extend worldwide?" ... he seemed to imply loyalty to country first. But I think that most faith people will say loyalty to God first.

Christian key informant: interfaith worker

Faith representation in decision-making bodies has been highlighted as providing a 'valuable

corrective' to government values and priorities (Home Office, 2004a). While such correctives may be expressed, they may not be given sufficient status to merit a response, however. Representations to the Commission for Integration and Cohesion about the government's refusal to acknowledge the impact of its foreign policy on cohesion, for example, were relegated to a supplementary report (Commission on Integration and Cohesion, 2007b) and not reflected in the Commission's final report, which stated that 'the Government rightly takes a particular approach when working with Muslim communities to prevent extremism' (Commission on Integration and Cohesion, 2007a).

At a local level, the framework of ethnicity rather than faith was used by some cohesion workers within neighbourhood forums. This was seen as overlapping and satisfying the need to involve faith communities, although the faith backgrounds of participants were not formally identified. However, key informants reported that some individuals leading faith or cohesion activity might not understand the difference between ethnicity and faith identity. One of our own key informants was unclear about whether the Polish community was a religious group, and the following extract highlights assumptions made about a white Muslim child by an interfaith education worker:

He was stood there in the hall with all Muslim children in front of him and he noticed the little white face, walked straight up to the little boy, asked him to stand up, took him out of the hall to the headmistress and said "This boy's in the wrong place".

Muslim converts focus group

A small number of key informants could also fail to recognise the exclusion that minority faith communities experienced and also questioned the attention paid to including faith groups in decision-making bodies. Two key informants felt Muslim communities were more empowered than Christian or non-faith groups. For example, one claimed 'there would be hell to pay' if a Muslim were told he shouldn't be going to a Christian school, whereas her son had been told this for saying he did not believe in God. Yet a Muslim key informant

described a similar situation when she complained about a poster showing lack of respect for the Qur'an in a mainstream school. Muslim focus group participants similarly detailed a range of ways in which they had experienced discrimination and exclusion on the basis of their religious identity.

Failure to recognise exclusion on the basis of faith is likely to have most impact on Muslim communities, in which religion is a prime aspect of identity (Modood et al., 1997). Furthermore, while Muslim communities are a focus of anti-terrorism policy (Home Office, 2009), Islamophobia is not acknowledged within this policy, despite evidence that mosques have been bombed and subjected to arson attacks (Muslim News, 2007). Discrimination on the basis of Muslim identity has been well documented (Commission on British Muslims and Islamophobia, 2004; Hamid and Sherif, 2002) and linked to high levels of poverty and unemployment, as well as low levels of health and social mobility (Nazroo, 1997; Mir and Sheikh, in press; Platt, 2005). Yet initiatives to address racism mentioned in the government strategy all use the framework of ethnicity rather than religion (Home Office, 2009).

The imbalance such discrimination creates in terms of community capacity was, nevertheless, overlooked by some key informants, and Muslim community members, rather than structural inequalities, blamed for the problems they experienced. Thus a Christian key informant in a paid interfaith post criticised mosques run by volunteers for not participating in bridging activity and felt the volunteers were in their 'own little worlds and don't want to reach out'. In other cases structural inequalities were recognised, but not given as much weight as factors internal to the community. For example, the underachievement of Muslim young people in schools was seen by one key informant to be most influenced by 'the pedagogical difference' and time that parents allocated to mosque-based teaching, more than by dynamics within schools themselves.

This approach, which continues an Orientalist tradition of viewing Muslim communities as problematic and having inferior values and lifestyles (Said, 1997), was striking among some influential figures in Bradford. These individuals acknowledged empirical evidence that undermined their views about Muslim communities almost in

passing, while focusing on negative dynamics as though these were exclusive to Muslim groups (see, for example, Lewis, 2002; Macey, 2005). Worryingly, at least one such figure was regularly asked to contribute to discussions about the Muslim community as an 'expert' authority, acting as what might be termed a 'pseudo-bridge' that served to reinforce negative stereotypes and negatively influence social cohesion in the process. This individual conceptualised Muslim communities as guests of the majority host community, reliant on goodwill and generosity in order to be accommodated, rather than outlining expectations of equal citizenship.

Key informants noted similar representations of minority faith groups in the media, where criminal or oppressive practices were portrayed as though they were religious practices, again contributing to the exclusion of minority faith groups from wider society:

there was a whole front page thing about forced marriage ... And they quoted Uncle Tom Cobbley and all about how terrible it was. And my question was, well who's arguing with you? And where are your quotations from leaders in the Muslim community and the Hindu and the Sikh community condemning forced marriage because their voices are saying exactly the same thing ... But to pretend that this is something that white people have to make statements about, is patronising rubbish because every faith community objects to forced marriage ... it is not a religious question. It is a question about people behaving badly and ascribing that to a particular community or a group is extremely unhelpful.

Non-faith key informant: interfaith worker

Our evidence highlights that faith communities may thus be perceived as an important resource for implementing cohesion policy (Department of Communities and Local Government, 2007) while faith perspectives are marginalised in practice and within policy development, where 'experts', who have no mandate to represent minority communities, may present these communities in a negative light. The need to 'step up a gear' (Home Office, 2004a) in terms of engagement between decision-makers and faith groups was echoed by

key informants. Findings indicate a call by many key informants for Level 4 interactions so that decision-making about social issues could be developed with the direct involvement of faith communities to create a deeper understanding of shared values.

The consequences of marginalising faith perspectives were also highlighted by key informants and included denial of resources, with exclusion of faith groups from some funding opportunities and from being able to use community facilities for faith-based meetings. Even where faith groups were included in decisionmaking, a difference in the capacity of people from minority faith backgrounds to engage with arenas where power was exercised was noted by some key informants. For example, the skills and confidence needed to contribute to decisionmaking about how a large community centre should be run was mostly found among Christian members of the management committee and there was a need to support the development of this capacity and confidence with other groups, who formed the majority of the centre's users. Social class was noted as a factor in such imbalances between faith communities, with higher levels of education promoting the skills that support involvement in decision-making bodies.

As highlighted above, the majority of key informants felt that faith values added to a more complete understanding about what may be important in relation to social issues and that diversity between faith groups could add further to this understanding. A fear of opening up such discussions has been highlighted earlier. This was linked by a number of key informants and focus group participants to the divisions that could be caused by differences in belief and suspicions about a 'hidden agenda' of trying to convert individuals to a different religion. Focus group participants also identified concerns about being challenged in relation to their faith and about being placed in the role of faith representative without having adequate knowledge to live up to this role.

Key informants recognised that such fears were based on real concerns and would take time to overcome. Indeed, there could be a negative emotional impact in moving too quickly to the topic of faith where individuals or groups were not prepared for this. This could be a justification

for beginning activity at Level 1 where people from diverse backgrounds might come together without any discussion about their beliefs or values. However, key informants, including those of no faith, felt that it was necessary to move to a further stage of interaction where faith identity could be acknowledged rather than avoided. For this to be possible a 'safe space', where dialogue could take place for the purpose of increasing knowledge about each other, was required. Openly addressing the reasons for engagement, and allaying fears about attempts to convert, was recommended along with sensitivity to accommodate difference.

Even in groups where discussion about faith was deliberately avoided, the value of such knowledge, developed in a context of respect and sensitivity could be recognised. The following discussion, involving women from two faith backgrounds who met on a regular basis and a researcher from a third faith group, demonstrates that making space to discuss religion could support the development of views about its relevance and move members of the group to a deeper level of engagement with each other:

A1: You shouldn't talk about religion.

A2: It's not friendly ... when we leave home we should leave as a human being and return home as a human being and keep our religion to ourselves, rather than criticising anybody else's religion.

A3: Well I don't know – it's ok that we should just meet as human beings but we should know about each other's religion. Who is doing what and how, we should know about their religion. Whether you have a discussion or not.

Interviewer: So how do you get to know if you don't talk about it?

A1: Sitting here are Hindus, Sikhs and you're a Muslim. If we just want to get to know your religion then that's ok, but if we begin to criticise then that's wrong. That shouldn't happen ... you should respect each other's religion.

Hindu Cultural Centre focus group participants

Bonding could thus be seen as more possible if religion was excluded from discussions and the focus was on commonality. However, acknowledging faith values in a climate of respect could help to overcome this barrier to deeper engagement and bridge the diversity that might exist within a group that also had common interests.

A 'safe space' where people, including those without a faith, felt comfortable to 'be themselves' was sometimes perceived to exist at neutral sites such as schools. Fieldwork showed that buildings themselves were only one factor in creating such spaces, however, and venues associated with a religious community, such as a temple or church, could also be seen as 'safe' by people from other backgrounds if they had been made to feel welcome and included at these sites.

Relegating faith to the private domain and avoiding discussion altogether was seen by key informants as preventing an opportunity for individuals to learn from each other and for people to 'come together in integrity'. Where faith was discussed, it could lead to members of one faith community feeling inspired to emulate good practice from members of another and such engagement could provide a revival or reassessment of values within and between diverse groups.

Shared values could develop through learning from each other's beliefs and values, as diverse faith perspectives were brought together to formulate solutions for social issues:

when I set up a multifaith [group], it struck me that we learned a lot from one another as teams, talking together about what's our understanding of sickness and health and dying. Which actually affects quite a lot of how you see life ... we could learn from each other about our faith understanding specifically in areas of community care, you know how do we care for our elderly ... how do we care for them in this particular time in their life?

Christian key informant: interfaith worker

This approach points to values that are renegotiated through the process of engagement in relation to specific issues (i.e. Level 4 interaction)⁴ and so differs significantly from

policy formulations of shared values that appear to focus on identifying 'common ground' in relation to existing values (i.e. Level 3 interaction; see Local Government Association, 2009).

It has been suggested elsewhere that fears about the existence of Muslim communities in Europe are linked to the potential change in values that such communities might introduce (see Modood, 2008). Key informants recognised that the potential for Muslims to influence social values could make people 'scared'; however, in terms of ongoing 'human dialogue and living together', negotiating such values was seen as essential for the sustainability of communities. Indeed, Muslim key informants often felt that it was not an option for them to keep faith in the private domain, given the negative media and policy portrayal of Muslim communities. Addressing the stereotypes on which these could draw and increasing the understanding of Muslim perspectives was sometimes seen as essential to the future of Muslim communities in the UK.

All key informants described the aim of interfaith activity in which they were involved as increasing understanding rather than proselytising. However, it was recognised that the impact of discussing deeply held beliefs might persuade individuals to convert. This was not seen by key informants as taking away individual agency or something that should necessarily be feared:

I think there is always that possibility there, you can't engage with ... to be genuinely open to the other and not recognise that you could be so compelled by what someone else is saying, someone else's experience, that you want to go to that place as well. I don't find that threatening, I just think that that is the reality and um, that's fine!

Christian key informant: interfaith worker

Focus group participants, most of whom were not involved in activity to promote social cohesion, were less confident and often felt they needed more knowledge of their own faith before they could engage at this level. Faith-based education and knowledge could thus provide the confidence to bridge and reduce fears about exposure to conversion. As highlighted earlier,

however, the space to acquire such knowledge and organise faith-based groups could be denied in both faith and non-faith settings.

Findings from cohesion projects

Making space for faith

Within the Sahara project the group focused on common ground in relation to being women (i.e. Level 3 interaction) but the issue of faith was not raised either in planning discussions between the two project leaders (who were Christian and Muslim) or at a group level within the sessions run for women. Faith was very important to the Muslim project leader and some of the Muslim participants, but the lack of discussion left both project leaders unsure about how to deal with the diversity within the group. Ultimately, each decided to leave the issue of whether or not to talk about faith to individual choice rather than facilitating group-level discussion (i.e. Level 1 interaction). This was partly because of concerns about offending or excluding those in a minority position but also because it was recognised that views about the importance of faith might not be the same:

because most of us were Muslim, we felt that we didn't want her to feel you know a bit excluded ... So we just kept that as a thing that you know maybe might offend her or she might not come or whatever. So we just kept religion out of it really ... when we talked about it, it was our own personal thing ... So we just thought well they don't want to talk about it, or it's not as in the forefront as it might be for me or one of the other ladies.

Sahara: Muslim project leader

Different levels of interaction consequently operated in relation to different aspects of identity within the group. While discussion about their experiences as women was given space and legitimacy by project leaders, a similar dynamic had not operated in relation to faith identity which was an area of diversity among participants. This resulted in guessing about the faith identity of the non-Muslim participant, who was assumed to be Hindu, and about how important or unimportant faith was to her in terms of her mental health. Faith

identity was thus an issue even though it was not the focus of the group's interactions. As a project leader for the Young Families in BD3 project also noted, 'some faith has come into it' even when the focus was on being mothers with children.

In practice, the position adopted by the two project leaders did influence the dynamics of the group. The Muslim project leader felt faith was an important resource for mental health and encouraged Muslim participants to draw on this. The Christian project leader 'felt unsure' about giving such direct advice but noted that the women themselves did not seem to have a problem with this. On reflection, project leaders felt that a more open discussion to negotiate the place of faith within the group would have taken place had there been more time. This suggests that the 'safe space' that had been created in respect of the 'common bond' participants felt as women was not yet safe enough to tackle areas of difference that involved going 'quite deep' and dealing with an issue that was perceived as potentially divisive. Whereas in the Young Families in BD3 project providing a place for faith was taken for granted by at least one of the project leaders, more open discussion between project leaders was needed in the Sahara project to negotiate their different positions before this could be explored with women in the group.

Identifying shared values

In contrast, within the Sharing Stories project, faith was seen as a means of exploring common ground between women from diverse backgrounds. The sessions were advertised as a chance to 'engage with women from different faiths' and were attended by Christian and Muslim women as well as women of no faith. Group discussions began with presentations by project leaders on Christian and Islamic perspectives, following which participants discussed the theme from their own perspective, without necessarily mentioning faith beliefs.

The discussion enabled women to express personal values relating to the topic and related social concerns that they felt should be addressed. The common ground that was developed in relation to promoting individual and social action on climate change, for example, evolved from both faith and non-faith perspectives, suggesting that the initial focus on religious perspectives was not necessarily

exclusive and helped stimulate and contribute to discussion about wider social debates.

Although operating at a lower level of interaction, the Lyrics 'n Friendship project similarly aimed to promote 'universal shared values' through the medium of music. Evaluation showed that children felt positive about the experience and the activity promoted 'positive messages' that increased mutual understanding between children from different faith backgrounds. The artist was a Muslim convert but the songs did not refer to Islam specifically, having been adapted to suit a wider audience:

You know you don't have to say I'm here to talk about community cohesion, you can be talking about values, you can be talking about issues, addressing issues that affect communities and bringing communities together on that basis ... we all share those values, and everybody who has a faith or who doesn't have a faith, we uphold truth, justice and peace.

Lyrics 'n Friendship project leader

These two projects identified shared values through the existing common ground of participants, which, as highlighted earlier, is how such values are conceptualised within current cohesion policy. Moving beyond common ground, potentially conflicting values were addressed within the Stepping Stones project, in which a session on 'Sex Education in Schools' was arranged by the project leader as a means of informing parents and stimulating dialogue about the school's approach. The session was led first by an external facilitator, who initiated a dialogue about the women's own experiences of learning about their bodies in which they discussed the difficulties they had faced as a consequence of cultural (rather than religious) practices that withheld adequate information. The school's deputy head teacher then outlined the process by which plant and animal lifecycles and aspects of human biology were covered in the curriculum, drawing legitimacy for this from the external context of the national curriculum rather than the school's own value system. Content was also related to an impersonal fact-based education rather than touching on a value framework for human relationships.

School staff acknowledged parental concerns on this issue but placed considerable emphasis on the school's efforts to be sensitive to these and to negotiate ways of delivering the curriculum that did not conflict with religious teachings. Parental control was recognised through the ability to exclude children from such sessions, while at the same time the problems of not having enough information, for example in relation to young girls dealing with menstruation, were discussed. The project leader's report on the session indicated that parents within the group recognised the need to change cultural practices that had disadvantaged them while they were growing up and that religious integrity was not necessarily damaged by such changes:

As social values and needs of the change with time, it is important for us to have changes in our thoughts because it is important that we change ourselves according to the needs of society. That is the only way we will be able to guide our future generations correctly. Every woman in the group felt this way.

Stepping Stones project report

The atmosphere of trust that had been established during the sessions between the women and school staff was instrumental in this renegotiation of positions. An important element of this was the school's movement towards a position of accountability to women in the group, which generated the necessary climate for open and constructive discussion to take place.

Findings from projects thus confirmed that religious identity had the capacity to stimulate consensus or 'common ground' (as in the case of Sharing Stories and Lyrics 'n Friendship) as well as conflict (as in the case of parents at the school) (see Furbey et al., 2006). Conflict arising from diverse perspectives had the potential, however, to be used creatively as a means of constructing shared values. Arriving at these values involved sensitivity and a sense of accountability by a more powerful group to a less powerful group, that is, the school staff to women from minority faiths. This in turn led to openness about the need to change cultural norms by these women.

Key findings

- Attitudes towards interacting on the issue
 of faith can help explain why individuals and
 groups may choose to engage with each other
 at different levels of the model presented in
 the first section of this report (pp9–11), and the
 concerns that may inform these decisions.
- There is a need to take account of existing positions in relation to faith when undertaking bridging activity, and both 'bridging' and 'bonding' are influenced by context and by multiple identities. This may mean that diversity is not discussed immediately. Priority may instead be given to the creation of a 'safe space' where faith identity can be acknowledged and discussed and where the values held by people from diverse backgrounds can be negotiated constructively.
- The exclusion of social groups from bridging activity can be caused both by avoiding as well as focusing solely on faith perspectives. Faith-based perspectives need to be given space and legitimacy by facilitators if they are to be addressed within intercultural discussions. This negotiation will need to take place not only within the group setting but also between facilitators themselves in terms of creating a safe space for discussion.
- Bridging may be needed between diverse subgroups within faith communities as much as or even more than with other social groups. While common bonds may exist within a faith community in relation to religious identity, there may be a greater need to bridge within the faith community than to other groups in terms of, for example, gender, ethnicity and social class. Internal bonding or 'rebonding' to adapt to new circumstances is a prerequisite for effective bridging.
- A space for faith has yet to be fully realised within policy so that faith perspectives can influence the values promoted to inform practice. Interaction between policymakers and faith groups needs to move

- beyond information giving and receiving or identifying existing common values to the 'level playing field' that would allow shared values to be negotiated. This would ensure that policy aims are influenced, and therefore supported, by those who are currently marginalised within this process.
- A climate of trust is essential to this negotiation and this would be supported by a level of accountability on the part of policy-makers to faith groups. This is particularly relevant to Muslim communities which are adversely affected by current policy positions on national security.
- Both within and between communities there is a need to recognise that maintaining traditional practices can exclude disempowered groups and damage social cohesion. The values on which these practices are based need to be renegotiated and space as well as legitimacy is required for the process of dialogue through which such renegotiation can take place.

4 Women, faith and social cohesion

Policy context

Government policy on community cohesion emphasises the inclusion of women and faith groups in work that links diverse communities and creates equal life chances (Department of Communities and Local Government, 2008d). Women are underrepresented in formal decisionmaking structures and recent policy promotes a number of initiatives to encourage and support women to take a greater part in such structures (Department of Communities and Local Government, 2008b). While the need to include women from minority backgrounds within such initiatives is recognised, this is formulated in terms of ethnicity rather than faith identity (Department of Communities and Local Government, 2008d). Support for developing Muslim women's capacity is linked to the 'Preventing Violent Extremism' agenda (Home Office, 2009), in which 'real and perceived grievances' within the Muslim community are considered primarily in terms of racism and poverty. The government has established the National Muslim Women's Advisory Group to advise on issues such as violent extremism. economic participation and education.

Key informant and focus group views

Women as peacemakers

Women were described by many key informants as having particular qualities that supported and promoted peace within society; these played a role in educating the next generation and passing on values that were important for social cohesion. Involvement in cohesion activity could consequently be motivated by concerns about improving children's experiences and futures.

women [are] more sensitive, women [are] more concerned ... She's more peaceful actually, she's

more patient, she can work patiently on [these] peace issues ... we can work wonders ... It will eliminate any social evils

Christian key informant: interfaith worker

I teach them respect to the elders, teach them respect that the person is a person it doesn't matter what colour of the skin you've got, it's a person where the heart is, if he's a good person he's a good person and you should respect that, that's how I bring up my children, and I think if all mothers would bring up children like that I wouldn't see any problem.

Polish Centre focus group participant

Women recognised their own multiple identities and the fact that these could overlap and influence each other:

we talked about our experiences of being a woman and it was interesting to ... so many different perspectives that were defined by age culture or religion or geographic context and families and how some of those overlapped and some of those worked down certain lines of just faith or gender, they were down lots of different lines.

Christian gender and interfaith focus group participant

Key informants did not necessarily feel that women were more involved in social cohesion activity than men but they did feel that women were more likely to have the communication skills, passion and empathy needed for such work.

This notion of women as peacemakers was weakened, however, by a small number of key informants in positions of influence who expressed views that undermined the values of minority cultures. This apparent conflict with their employment as facilitators for 'bridging' activity

appeared to arise from principles related to other aspects of their identities. The relationship between conflicting principles did not appear to have been resolved by the individuals concerned. Nationalism and concerns about their own cultural values could consequently override their bridging role so that they privileged their own values or became confused about what position they should take on particular issues.

Such conflicting principles were demonstrated in the issue of women-only space:

should there be gender division or not? And how do you manage that sensibly? It's a very, very difficult question ... it's actually quite a lot of fun and a nice bit of respite to be able to talk to a bunch of women and often you naturally orientate to talking to women, but our culture, the majority culture here in Britain is that you mix genders and in a professional environment you mix genders ... there's lots of ways of bringing women together, but the hard question is, is our direction integration? If it is, what does that mean? Are women a stumbling block to integration, or not? Are they an asset?

Christian key informant: interfaith worker

At least part of the confusion expressed in this quote appears to derive from the idea that bonding as women is a barrier to bridging with other social groups. However, most women did not conceptualise women-only groups in this way, although their reasons for supporting single gender activities varied. Group dynamics were recognised as different in mixed and single gender settings; interaction between women was seen as more relational and linked to common experiences:

as women you have a lot more in common than sitting with men ... I think women talk about the day-to-day issues ... it's more personalised you can get to know each other on a more one to one basis and share aspirations and worries and concerns ... 'Cos every women has that same problem, you know, family, work community work, how do you balance it out, how do you juggle it all? And I think every woman you speak to has those concerns.

Muslim key informant: interfaith volunteer

Whereas for some women single gender activities were 'fun' and 'more comfortable', for others they could be essential in terms of inclusion. For example, in terms of supporting women to build their self confidence and address social problems such as isolation and racism, working as part of a group of women was considered a means of removing 'internal barriers'.

Group activities such as craft, poetry, arts and media production were used to support women to develop such confidence by allowing them to build on their existing talents. This approach was particularly relevant to non-professional women who might not be attracted to engage in discussion groups that often did not have an impact at grassroots community level.

At the same time, generalisations about women from particular faith groups were felt to be unhelpful by most women. One focus group participant, who had attended a masters-level session on 'Women in Islam', felt that her own experience and that of many other Muslim women was not reflected in the homogenous picture depicted, which did not represent the diversity of experience within the Muslim community:

I was feeling a lot throughout, well actually we don't have that kind of Islam in my family we don't, you know our relations are not like that, women are not treated like that.

Muslim gender and interfaith focus group participant

Inclusion within faith communities

Women sometimes described guest/host relationships in certain contexts within faith communities that they felt needed to be addressed. Failure to recognise the contribution that women could make, which was 'partly untapped', limited women's ability to self-organise in ways that increased their 'bonding capital' and ability to act as bridges between social groups.

Some key informants felt that finding a way into male-dominated structures required alliances with men and that it was important for men to be involved in discussions about gender. Establishing a relationship of trust with male-dominated committees could be an important step to enabling inclusion:

They got positive feedback from the people especially what we did in this Ramadan [month of fasting] everyday. After that they said now you are in charge or whatever you do ... they trust us with what we are doing ... the mosque called us and said they needed us and we needed to come back because "you've done such a good job and I think you should carry on" ... they said they missed us and "the place is not the same without you".

Muslim key informant: community volunteer

Two key informants gave examples of organisations that supported women to take a lead, both of which had flat management structures and a culture of collective support. These had helped women to organise, network and develop their skills through hands-on training, being 'thrown in at the deep end' and learning through experience.

there's no hierarchy: "I'm a man and you're a woman", and it's all the work, we work equally with each other and we support and help each other in taking those projects forward ... there's not training given it's just learning through you know different projects we've carried out.

Learning the mistakes and moving forward.

Muslim key informant: interfaith volunteer

Attitudes towards women within Muslim communities were felt to be 'influenced more by culture rather than religion' resulting in women being excluded from mosques and views that 'a woman should be at home, she shouldn't be seen outside'. The exclusion of women was seen as hampering beneficial change within the community in terms of the practice of faith as well as general development.

Interfaith activities were usually undertaken by a minority of people within faith groups. Communication skills, confidence, 'a certain amount of tact' and an understanding of one's own faith were considered necessary in order to share one's faith with others. Those with professional standing were therefore seen as more likely to undertake such activity.

One key informant felt that women who were from working-class backgrounds and had moved into professional settings were more likely

to work for change along with women who 'see the work as something that concerns them'. Personal involvement in the issues was thus seen as an important driver for cohesion activity.

The personal development of women was consequently considered an important issue for cohesion. As highlighted earlier, within focus groups, where non-professional women were more likely to be represented within this study, some women felt they needed more knowledge of their own faith and more space to develop themselves before they could feel equipped to engage in interfaith activity. Developing such knowledge from within the faith community could thus be a vital preliminary to an 'outward looking' perspective.

A number of key informants drew on religious teachings to challenge community norms that resulted in gender exclusion:

I mean why can't women go into a mosque to learn something? At the time of the Prophet that time was completely different ... Girls are going to cinemas, watching films, why aren't they allowed to go to the mosque and to learn something? ... somewhere along the line people have got lost on why ... the reasons why they are not allowed to go.

Muslim key informant: community volunteer

Through education and experience of activism women had been able to break cultural traditions and younger women were seen as being at the forefront of this change. Resistance to this could, however, be strong and external support was helpful to those driving change forward. Mobilising support from various sources, including internal support, could help to counter this resistance:

So we got the support of the people who were for [a women's centre] and like we said we got the politicians involved, we got these local people involved.

Muslim key informant: community worker

Involvement in formal structures

Key informants described a lack of representation at higher levels of formal organisations, including faith organisations, which meant that the spokespeople for faith communities might not reflect women's perspectives:

in a hierarchy, which [is] predominantly male ... at that level women's voices are not always heard ... I think it's who the spokespeople are for communities

Christian key informant: interfaith worker

An assumption within formal faith structures that 'women feed into all the work of a group' and did not require a specific focus was felt to be a further way of marginalising women and 'often means that a woman's voice isn't actually heard'.

Despite the fact that more women than men tended to work within community projects, key informants reported that women were not generally involved within the decision-making structures for regeneration programmes. It was suggested that this was because these were male-dominated and women lacked the confidence to feel their contribution would be valued. In one area a women's network with themed meetings around issues of local concern to showcase services was a successful way of engaging with women; however, this was not exploited to feed into decision-making structures (see Skidmore et al., 2006). Women were more likely to be active at neighbourhood level meetings where a variety of meeting times were organised to ensure these were accessible:

certainly a number of the women I've got are mothers whose kids have grown up a little bit, you know, sort of past being infants and they're at school and they have a bit of time during ... and maybe they're not working and have a bit of time during the day, or only working part time, or you know, that kind of stuff.

Non-faith key informant: community worker

Providing childcare and avoiding meeting times that conflicted with school times was thus important to involving women in local decision-making. Some key informants also described ways of bringing women into the formal management structures of an organisation via less formal women's activities such as discussion groups.

However, the point was also made that existing structures helped to maintain the status quo

so that even when women got involved this did not lead to great differences in the way power was exercised. This suggests that rather than simply encouraging and supporting women to take part in existing structures as current policy does (Department of Communities and Local Government, 2008b), traditional structures for decision-making need to be reviewed with input from women as a more effective way of creating sustainable change. Relying on existing structures to change themselves was unrealistic as change required women's active involvement.

... we've been saying this over 20 years. We haven't moved forward we're still there in that rut.

Muslim key informant: interfaith volunteer

Being involved in such structures, however, was not necessarily the solution as existing models of leadership and decision-making could involve a predetermined agenda and processes:

Yeah, but, well it shouldn't have been set up in the way that it was, but ... that's what they had and that's how they had the money to do it. What can you do?

Christian key informant: interfaith worker

Evidence from key informants suggests that styles of leadership and decision-making to which women feel more able to relate need to be considered: these are explored further below.

Women and leadership/influence

Key informants illustrated a number of ways in which women exercised influence to bring about change within their own contexts. This could be change in individual or group relationships or the introduction of new activity that supported change in attitudes. Such influence was a form of leadership that women exercised sometimes individually, but primarily on a collective basis, 'bringing people together who can take action in some way'.

Interestingly, this use of influence differs from existing models of leadership that are characterised in much of the literature as being an individual activity (see Kakabadse and Kakabadse, 1999; Northouse, 2007). Transactional and transformational leadership models focus on

individual charisma and highlight the particular qualities, abilities, aptitudes and behaviours of individuals (Bryman, 1992; Bass and Avolio, 1993). In contrast, key informants conceptualised and exercised leadership influence less conspicuously and more collectively. Such an approach is more in keeping with the notion that leadership can be an emergent activity, distributed throughout particular groups with shared interests (Gronn, 2000; Raelin, 2003). Such leadership does not rely solely on individuals or necessarily on formal leadership positions or responsibilities:

Nobody's taking the lead. We've got to battle it out between us how we're willing to work together, which, you know, I hope we do really.

And I hope we don't agree on everything too.

Christian key informant: interfaith worker

The voluntary nature of involvement for women who could not attend in paid roles was highlighted as a barrier to the emergence of such leadership, however, particularly as a minority of women were often called on to fill numerous such positions:

"Oh you never attended the last meeting why didn't you come?" I said "I wasn't well I didn't have childminding facilities, so I wasn't able to come." He goes "We need that fresh blood in there", I says "Yeah, I'm drained".

... We're forming our own committee and getting people involved from outside the organisation as well. I mean it's very slow because we're all voluntary workers er, we do it on a voluntary basis, so all in good time.

Muslim key informant: interfaith volunteer

Role models who helped women develop self-confidence could be important in the 'journey' towards leadership and their capacity to carry out action despite the anxiety caused by potentially 'threatening' change. Some key informants saw themselves as undertaking roles that could encourage other women to do something similar in terms of making people rethink roles and religious assumptions:

moving people's ideas away from [God] just being a male incarnation to being understood through the diversity of the human form.

Christian key informant: interfaith worker

This emergent activity to change the status quo reflected a dissatisfaction with those in more formal leadership roles, and work that involved 'ordinary people' was seen as important to progress on social cohesion:

interfaith you know ... it can be the preserve of the elite, but not necessarily. I think some of the ... some good practices come out of just ordinary people at grass roots.

Christian key informant: interfaith worker

a range of people who aren't community leaders ... who are just average Joes if you like ... one of the really nice women on our management committee ... was just a parent of one of the children who was playing [football] and you know got talking, she obviously had a local interest in what's happening and a lot of frustrations and she's been turning up at the management committee ... there are some advantages to having people who don't necessarily have a background ... in their ... in community ... politics if you like.

Non-faith key informant: community worker

A number of key informants pointed out that formal processes presented restrictions in terms of involving such individuals who would withdraw because things became too structured or impersonal. Influence was thus seen as being relationship-based, such relationships developing from identification of joint interests but primarily from people being given the opportunity to interrelate in the right surroundings with an appropriate atmosphere to develop their own agenda of activity:

I think the actual, the abilities, the skills are there in the community but, and it needs a skilled person to foster that and to encourage people and to develop that 'cos what you don't want is people coming in from the outside saying "do this" and going away again. The real people who

can bring about change in the community are the people who live there. I absolutely believe that. And I do believe skills do exist in the community to bring about change ... So it's a lot of work listening and confidence building and then enabling people to bring about some change.

Christian key informant: interfaith worker

An a priori agenda did not therefore assist in developing relationships; rather, the development of relationships appeared to lead to the development of an agenda. This implies that civic participation and social action that furthers joint interests is more likely to develop in conditions that allow trustful relationships to develop. This mutual process enables individuals to come together to identify their own priorities to which they can then commit to take action.

Such trustful relationships appear to be just as important between state and citizens as between individuals and communities. Where the state and cultural influences predetermined acceptable spaces for inclusion and activism, this could exclude women's own perspectives and constrain their ability to tackle what they saw as the causes of social exclusion:

pushing this government agenda – it's your foreign policy that is responsible ... yet you blame atrocities on religion ... I told [civil servant] unless you change your policies on Iraq, Afghanistan, Palestine, our young people will continue to be radicalised.

Muslim key informant: interfaith volunteer

The picture presented by key informants was not exclusively one of collective leadership, and there were examples of individuals being key to maintaining momentum:

I am committed. If I don't go the group will disintegrate because I am sort of a lead, a group leader there ... I am the organiser ... I'm some times so tired on Saturday and I think "I've got to go to the mosque now". For me it's an errand but they look forward to me.

Muslim key informant: community volunteer

Overall, however, there was considerable evidence of the way women exercised leadership of the collective character of influence and decision-making. This appeared to be the result of conceptualising leadership as a grass-roots activity rather than a strategy-led or 'top down' system of influence.

Findings from cohesion projects

Empowerment

Project leaders in Stepping Stones, Sahara and UMMAH drew on their own personal experiences as women to develop projects that would help empower other women in situations they themselves had experienced. Developing the selfesteem of women was a focus for all three projects and participants were mostly already known to the project leaders. In the case of Sahara, the change of location had altered the project leader's initial idea to befriend individual women who suffered depression within their own home environment. Her own experience had been that 'if I didn't have the people around me just to give me that bit of a shove or a nudge, you know, I could be in this kind of state of mind for months or years even'. In all three of these projects, the focus on women's experiences and the common ground of family life and relationships was used to create a supportive and relaxed space in which women could come together on a regular basis for mutual support.

Within the Stepping Stones project, evaluation showed that women involved in both delivering and participating the sessions felt more confident as a result of the programme, mutually reinforcing each other through positive feedback. Session leaders felt that empowering this small group of women had the potential to impact positively on many others, including husbands, children and staff within the school. Evidence of this empowerment had become apparent as women from the ESOL class began communicating directly with a wider range of school staff, such as the deputy head teacher and class teachers, rather than relying solely on the school's liaison teacher as they had previously done.

However, the increased confidence of women led to one participant '[using] it to fight her husband', with repercussions for the project leader.

The fact that the project leader was separated was subsequently raised by the participant's husband with the implication that the project was promoting family divisions. As an active member of her local mosque the project leader felt her position within her faith community was harder to maintain because of her increased visibility, suggesting that women who empower others need to be supported to deal with the resistance their position might create. A second project leader felt that one had to be 'very careful' about the negative dynamics that such groups could initiate. In terms of the model for bridging activity presented at the beginning of this report (pp9-11), and indeed lessons from Stepping Stones itself, equipping women to mobilise support for their position and to create a constructive climate within which to challenge the status quo is suggested as the most effective means of addressing areas of potential conflict.

Confidence-building sessions built into the project drew on and developed women's existing skills and knowledge in ways that could be used in daily situations, an important criterion for success in the opinion of the project leader. Two sessions were included on using public transport, a situation in which women felt least confident. A session on 'Dealing with Racism' was also built into the project as the project leader felt 'every member of the group had faced racism'. A group-level confidence was created as women found a safe space to highlight their experiences in school:

the women who were originally scared about saying anything about racism they had faced from school staff, explained it very confidently through role play in front of the head teacher and deputy.

Project Leader, Stepping Stones

The project leader, herself a member of the ESOL class, felt this message had been delivered effectively via the project and believed it would make a difference to the way South Asian women were treated within the school.

Being taken seriously by the school sent an important message to women that increased their sense of self-esteem. The extent of preparation by session leaders and their competence to lead particular sessions was taken by the project leader

to indicate how seriously she and other women were being taken. Her own position within the class changed over the course of the sessions, reflecting her growing confidence, from being a member of the ESOL group to positioning herself alongside the session leader and co-facilitating the final sessions.

As highlighted earlier, the social capital available to the UMMAH project participants was limited so that they could not meet to develop knowledge of their own faith either in a community building or mosque. Their experience suggests a need for dialogue that could challenge the exclusion of not only faith groups from public space but also of women's groups within religious communities.

Barriers to cohesion activity

Although the Lyrics 'n Friendship project focused on children, women were seen as the driving force in developing and delivering it. The project leader felt that women were more emotionally involved with the idea of contributing to positive change in society and had 'a greater passion than men in making a difference'. The passion and the emotional involvement of women was thus seen as relating to the promotion of positive interactions rather than being emotional per se. Men played a vital role in supporting this activity – for example, the musicians who visited schools to sing, some of the teachers who supported the project and the driver who transported the artists to each school. The project leader felt that, within the faith organisation backing her, religion was a liberating force for women and the common ground of faith promoted alliances between men and women so that everyone contributed to their full potential.

Nevertheless, voluntary activities were difficult for women to manage. The time and timing involved in delivering projects was affected by other priorities such as caring for children or sick relatives, particularly when cohesion activity was voluntary. During the course of the study, four women also had to cope with loss or threatened loss of employment – mostly related to work in the voluntary sector. Personal health problems also affected project leaders' ability to carry on, particularly as the 'bridging' partnerships between project leaders meant women had to make a special effort to keep in touch with partners outside their own usual

networks. There was consequently a danger of 'burn out' for those who did not have dedicated time in which to focus on the planned activity:

if we were in a paid capacity you would still do them with that same passion but you wouldn't be burnt out at the same time ... You're juggling it as a woman with other things anyway, you're working, you've got your family life, everything else, on top of that you're doing the community work, but if it was just you know that job outside and you come home at least you don't have that extra burden of following calls through and whatever else that needs carrying out.

Lyrics 'n Friendship project leader

Overlap between the project and a paid work role or membership of a formal organisation was vital to the success of projects and has been shown elsewhere to significantly affect the level of interfaith activity (Local Government Association, 2009). Two project leaders for UMMAH and Young Families in BD3 were able to use their work roles to dedicate time to the projects and so received organisational and administrative support. However, when this support was not forthcoming (over difficulties with payment of an invoice) the UMMAH project leader almost gave up as the other demands of delivering the project were already very difficult and she felt as though she were 'flogging a dead horse'. The impact of organisational backing was particularly noticeable in relation to the project leader for Lyrics 'n Friendship who was also involved in Sharing Stories but without the backing of her organisation. The infrastructure in place for the former project meant that it was delivered with very little input from the research partners; however, a high level of support and facilitation was needed for her involvement in the latter project.

Similarly, competing priorities affected participation by women who took part in the projects themselves, sometimes alongside other challenges such as controlling families who could restrict their attendance. Although not a condition laid down for the projects, almost all were delivered in women-only spaces (the exceptions being Lyrics 'n Friendship, which was delivered in schools, and Young Families in BD3, which attracted a father with a young child in the final sessions). Project

leaders chose this kind of setting deliberately and for the various reasons outlined by key informants (see p29). However, for UMMAH and Stepping Stones a mixed gender social setting would have prevented access for some of the women involved.

Access to space to carry out their projects could depend on the extent to which women could produce evidence of formal backing. In two cases space was made more accessible through the formal involvement of a member of the research team who contacted organisations on behalf of project leaders. Similarly, the UMMAH project leader drew on the fact that her group was being backed by a university and a nationally recognised funder to negotiate space within her organisation for the project to run.

Key findings

- Although women often possess qualities that make them particularly effective in cohesion activity, they can also hold perspectives that favour their own cultural values and undermine those of other social groups.
- 'Women-only' space is helpful and sometimes essential for the personal development of women, which is a vital issue for social cohesion.
- Support for women to be more included within their faith communities and knowledgeable about their own faiths is an important means of increasing their confidence to bridge to other faith groups. In order to fulfil their potential contribution to social cohesion activity, women need more control over space within local community settings. Access to space for women often relies on permission and negotiation both within and outside faith communities. This may be facilitated by trust, external support, and reciprocal benefit for those who control the space. However, the guest/host relationship in places where women's activities take place means that such support is vulnerable to withdrawal.
- The inclusion of women in decision-making structures both within and outside their faith

groups requires recognition of their multiple responsibilities and time. Such structures have most often been developed without the input of women and need to be reviewed rather than continued in their present form to make the participation of women more likely and effective. The space within which women can contribute should be broad enough for their perspectives to be heard rather than narrowly defined by pre-existing policy concerns.

- Women often conceptualise leadership as a grass-roots activity rather than a strategyled or 'top-down' system of influence. Civic participation and social action by women is more likely to develop in conditions that allow trustful relationships to develop between individuals and communities and between the state and citizens.
- The personal experiences of women and their ideas about how to address problems relating to social cohesion are an important resource for local communities, with the potential to impact on future generations. Barriers to their ability to contribute include caring responsibilities and the voluntary nature of such work. Findings suggest that the value given to women's contributions should be increased so that their activity can be carried out in dedicated paid time rather than in addition to, or instead of, paid work.

5 Evaluating our methods

Participatory methods: a model for local facilitation

Participatory research methods have an established record of empowering disadvantaged social groups and allowed women to engage with the study at various levels. Our aim was to ensure that the women involved in the project and the ideas they generated for activity built on existing work and had local relevance. Our approach followed the most empowering model of participatory research outlined in the review of this method by Rifkin *et al.* (2000), which corresponds with the Level 4 interaction outlined in our own model at the beginning of this report.

Part of the research funding was used to provide:

- workshops to support and equip women involved to implement and evaluate their projects; and
- resources necessary to deliver projects, including payments to the women acting as project workers.

Research partners were involved in decisions about the type and number of activities that could be delivered and payments were negotiated with project leaders for work carried out and resources needed for delivery.

Financial support for those not in paid employment was offered following feedback from women themselves that it would be helpful. Interestingly, some women who were in paid posts from which they could carry out intercultural activity did not support such payments and felt that this should be done voluntarily or that faith groups themselves should fund such work. As highlighted in this report, however, not all faith communities have equal resources and the funding we provided was important to project leaders:

The added value for me was the funding as well ... it did help ... I would have tried everywhere to get the financial support to make our work happen.

Lyrics 'n Friendship project leader

For women in minority faith organisations, we found that even paid posts did not necessarily provide capacity since these organisations were often short staffed and relied on specific staff funding for each piece of work they carried out.

Partnerships

Following the model for bridging activity developed from key informants (see Chapter 2, pp9–11), we encouraged partnerships between project leaders from different backgrounds who wished to work on similar projects. While many had aspirations to involve diverse communities, only one had thought of working with someone from another community to achieve this. We learnt important lessons about partnerships from the dynamics between these project leaders.

The support project leaders provided each other was important in the Sahara project, which had no formal organisational backing. However, while each project aimed to share decisionmaking between partners, stronger partners could take control, sometimes at the request of those with fewer resources, and who had less capacity to take on a leadership position. In terms of the research partnership, we found the same situation paralleled with our own community partners. Womenzone formally withdrew from the partnership about halfway through the study, following problems with its own funding and inability to support the work. The departure of our main contact at Active Faith Communities (AFC) led to various other staff members taking on this role, but the subsequent lack of continuity adversely affected the contribution that AFC could make.

By the end of the partnership their involvement was limited to attending advisory group meetings and taking on specific pieces of work rather than being involved with the project as a whole.

As highlighted earlier for project leaders, maintaining contact with each other to plan and deliver projects could be difficult since people did not usually move in the same social networks. The research partners consequently had to get involved to mediate or re-establish relationships because planning or delivery had come to a halt. It became clear that these relationships needed facilitation in the same way that interaction between participants in the projects was facilitated by project leaders. This involvement or 'knocking heads together' was appreciated by project leaders who could sometimes blame each other for lack of progress and not openly discuss or take enough account of the difficulties that their partners might face.

Reciprocity was an important aspect of partnerships – all partners needed to feel they were benefiting in some way from being involved in the projects or the overall study. This applied not only to our partner organisations, who were funded for their involvement in the study, but also to partners in the six projects:

fantastic for our school and fantastic for our children as well, and of course it meets a government agenda which is working towards community cohesion.

Deputy head teacher, Stepping Stones

We aimed to become partners with project leaders in terms of working with them and supporting them to plan and deliver their projects. Project leaders felt the lead researcher had managed to create a level playing field with them; indeed, a number felt they had developed a friendship rather than a professional relationship because of the emotional support that this included. In some cases the support received was seen as vital to projects getting off the ground:

I started from the problems I faced. Five years ago when I came here first, I was not allowed out of the house on my own, had lost all confidence in myself. I know there are a lot of women like me and I wanted to help them but I didn't really know

how to do it. [Lead researcher] spent a lot of time talking to me and helped to show me what to do and how to do it, I have learned a lot how to proceed.

Stepping Stone project leader

However, one project leader also pointed out that, realistically, a university team with resources, funded by a nationally recognised body, would always be seen as more powerful than a grassroots organisation or individual project leader. Questions or suggestions to project leaders from the research team or funder could therefore be seen as directives or ideas that should not be rejected. This clearly has implications for how more powerful partners negotiate issues, and ensuring that project leaders felt in control of their projects was an important aspect of this:

nobody's been ringing every five minutes and saying this that and the other or don't do this or don't do that, I don't think there's been any of that, it's just been, it's happening and just periodically when you have the workshops you have a little check and it's "Oh no, that's fine, somebody else is feeling that", or somebody else is struggling with that.

... one of the things that was really helpful was that as it changed that it was able to change and that it wasn't locked in to saying "No you definitely need to meet these kind of six sessions", and that's really important ... that's something I think that often happens with funding is you end up trying to make something happen when it just isn't quite right.

Young Families in BD3 project leader

Workshops

Four workshops were organised over the course of the study to provide opportunities for project leaders to share their experiences and resources and to have access to relevant speakers and materials. Workshops covered themes relating to the projects or identified by project leaders, including Evaluation, Conflict Resolution, Report-Writing and Sustainability. The workshops were also used to informally discuss papers sent out previously by email or post – for example an

accessible chapter based on the Asset Based Community Development model (see Kretzmann and McKnight, 1996).

Workshops were valued as a way of 'genuinely sharing problems and trying to find solutions together'. The support network created by the research study enabled women to pass on ideas and contacts to each other and to get involved in each other's projects. For example, Sharing Stories was reinvigorated after months of inactivity during one workshop when two participants offered to help with planning and delivering the sessions at the suggestion of the lead researcher.

The 'weak ties' (Granovetter, 1973) created by the workshops allowed project leaders to access support from each other as well as the research team and partners, key informants, advisory group members and the contacts of each person within these groups. Again, the parallels with the women's own attempts to create wider networks for the people involved in their projects were apparent.

Ongoing support

Support for project leaders was also offered by the research partners, particularly the lead researcher, via visits, email and being 'on the end of a telephone'. It became clear that using different styles of communication could be important, partly because of preferred communication methods, such as a project leader who described herself as a 'telephone person' and found it harder to respond to email. In some cases, project leaders had patchy or no access to computers and so could not receive emails giving information about funding opportunities or relevant events, which were sent out by post instead. As described earlier, university and Joseph Rowntree Foundation backing could also be important in gaining legitimacy and space for projects to run.

The kind of development we wanted to support takes time to achieve and we therefore tried not to underestimate the resources needed to build up trust and agreement and to follow ideas through into practice and learning. We allowed a ninemonth period, following development of plans, for project leaders to deliver and evaluate their projects. Nevertheless, one of the most valued kinds of support we could give was extended

deadlines to deliver projects and reports. Only two projects met the original deadline for completion. Three others took around 15 months to complete and one which had been starting and stopping for around nine months was finally delivered a year after its original timetable. The multiple pressures project leaders sometimes faced, including personal and family health problems, family breakdown as well as caring and work/study commitments, all required extension of original deadlines to make delivery of the projects possible.

Evaluation

Writing up the findings from the projects was the most difficult aspect of the study for most project leaders, confirming findings from other participatory studies (Khanna, 1996). We supported those who struggled to write reports in various ways. Workshops covered a sample report structure and ways of evaluating community-based activity. Apart from extending deadlines, we interviewed and tape recorded project leaders, using a report structure as the basis of our questions. We then had the interviews transcribed and edited so that women could select sections for their reports and formatted these selections along with any other information project leaders wished to include. The lead researcher also passed on notes from her observation of events she had attended when project leaders had failed to keep a record themselves. We translated and typed up one report which had been written in Urdu, the project leader's first language.

It was such a relief ... I was panicking ... It was really burdening me doing the report ... With the transcription, I was so glad to have had that support.

Sahara project leader

Evaluation of community-based work by voluntary sector groups is often far from rigorous (see Aspinall and Jackson, 2004) and there is a risk it can become a public relations exercise because it has the potential to impact on reputation and future funding. We encouraged project leaders to provide an honest account of their work, assuring confidentiality for their reports and

emphasising our wish to learn from what they had done. Project leaders who engaged with the reflection and evaluation process appeared to gain most in terms of this learning:

So many community events never get written up. But this made us sit down and evaluate what we had done.

Sahara project leader

Our own focus groups with project leaders were a further way of supporting people to reflect on and evaluate what they had achieved and recognise that their own ideas could develop according to what they had learnt:

It's been a good experience for not just myself – for my colleagues and parents as well and we've learnt a lot and it's given us some new ideas

... today's helped just to re-evaluate and you know, going back through things.

... we felt this would be really good and they'll do this and actually it's pants because they didn't want to do it they just wanted to be in each other's company.

Young Families in BD3 project leader

Writing up – it was teaching me more but in a different way.

Stepping Stones project leader

In contrast, project leaders who had not engaged much in the reflection and evaluation aspects of the study did not seem to have taken any lessons to carry forward from their experience and considered this a 'one-off activity'. In one project, involving three very experienced interfaith actors, evaluation forms that had been completed by participants at each session of the project were lost, and only one session, containing very little reflection, was written up. Nor had the women attended many of the workshops, so they had not been involved in sharing experiences with other project leaders. Our focus group evaluation with these project leaders identified that working with a partner from a different background to plan an intercultural project was a new feature for the women. Yet one said 'we were doing all this anyway' and that it 'was nothing new'. In terms of future work the emphasis

of all three project leaders focused on pursuing their own particular interests. While there was a general sense of value in what they had achieved together, this was not translated into valuing such partnerships for planning future intercultural work.

Sustainability

The issue of sustainability was raised early on in the study by project leaders and revolved primarily around funding. The lead researcher passed on details of funding opportunities when they arose, and a member of staff from AFC with responsibility for supporting people to apply for funding ran a session at one of the workshops. This staff member was herself the victim of short-term project funding, however, reflecting the constant struggle for resources within the voluntary sector.

Sustainability has taken various forms in terms of what will continue after the projects finish. New relationships have been developed through the various projects and the overall study, linked to new and wider networks for project participants and project leaders. Lessons learnt from each project are expected to affect the way in which future work is carried out, and it is to be hoped that the model developed from key informants (pp9-11) will influence the way those working in this area evaluate their work and the direction it may need to take. The study has also introduced 'new blood' into the pool of people carrying out social cohesion activity and helped them believe they have a valuable contribution to make.

Summaries of all the project reports have been produced (see Appendix 2), identifying the key learning from each project. One of the project leaders of Sahara is exploring funding to do more intercultural work to build on her project experience.

In terms of our research partners, Womenzone secured more funding and planned to work with the project leaders involved in Young Families in BD3 on a project relating to elderly people from different cultural backgrounds and intergenerational activity. By contrast, AFC has now closed as a result of difficulties in securing funding for its activities.

Stepping Stones, Young Families in BD3 and the Lyrics 'n Friendship projects all intend to

carry on and build on the lessons learnt through participating in the study. The two latter projects may well have been carried out in any case but project leaders felt the learning from their work with the research partnership would influence how they continued this work in the future.

In the case of Stepping Stones, however, it is clear that this work would not have happened without the project leader's involvement in the study. While all the projects have contributed to the overall lessons from the research, the learning from this particular project is perhaps some of the most valuable:

We will be continuing – the project has had its own momentum and does not depend on the research. We are going to evaluate each unit ... There is greater motivation to continue.

Deputy head teacher: Stepping Stones

Replicating the participatory approach

Participatory methods offer a valuable way to engage local people who are motivated to become involved in social cohesion activity and correspond to Level 4 interaction outlined at the beginning of this report (pp9–11). The following guidelines for using this approach are based on findings from the study:

- Work with local community organisations to recruit people you can work with and to generate an overview of what is already happening in the area. Speak to people who are experienced in social cohesion activity as well as ordinary people who may have different views.
- Try to identify ideas for projects based on the real experiences of people and bring 'new blood' into the pool of people carrying out social cohesion activity. Help those with little previous experience to believe they have a valuable contribution to make.

- Provide financial support to community organisations and project leaders and ensure reciprocity is built into partnerships. Involve all partners in decision-making and create a 'level playing field' to ensure project leaders feel in control of their projects. Be aware that project leaders may understand suggestions from more powerful partners as directives and it is important not to lose project leaders' ideas about what will work.
- Encourage project leaders to plan with people from other cultural backgrounds when they intend to deliver intercultural projects. Be prepared to facilitate relationships between these project partners, particularly when some are more powerful than others.
- Encourage project leaders to develop Level 4 relationships with each other and with project participants.
- Support and equip project leaders to plan, deliver and evaluate their work. Provide institutional backing to help them gain legitimacy and space for their projects to run.
- Provide ongoing support in the form of workshops and regular contact, using preferred styles of communication. Use the workshops to widen the contacts and resources of project leaders and as a way of sharing problems and trying to find solutions together.
- Allow sufficient time for activities and extend deadlines when necessary to allow project leaders to succeed in delivering their goals.
- Address evaluation early on in the process so that project leaders can gather data for this. Encourage an honest assessment of the work, assuring confidentiality if required and emphasising a wish to learn from what is done.

- Ensure project leaders engage with the reflection and evaluation process so that they gain from the learning. Use a variety of methods to support them to evaluate their projects including focus groups and individual interview transcripts.
- Pass on details of funding opportunities and information/accessible papers about social cohesion activity to project leaders and support people to apply for funding, if necessary.
- Produce summaries of all the projects with a description of the process and key learning outcomes and make this easily accessible to others who may be interested to learn from the work carried out.

6 Conclusions

Contact between people from diverse backgrounds provides an opportunity for initial engagement, but sharing the same space does not contribute to community cohesion to the same extent as developing awareness and understanding, or addressing areas of difference so that shared values can be developed. Findings from this study indicate that 'strong and positive relationships' (see Department of Communities and Local Government, 2007) involve those that move beyond contact and consensus to resolving conflicts and addressing social injustice. A more equal distribution of resources, capacity and power is needed to enable women and faith communities, particularly those from minority backgrounds, to fulfil their potential contributions to cohesion activity. A climate of trust is need for interaction that can lead to the development of shared values arising from the resolution of real issues. Such relationships are needed between individuals and groups from diverse backgrounds but also between social groups and statutory authorities, including government.

This report suggests that faith communities and women are social groups with whom a deeper level of dialogue is needed – both within communities and within decision-making bodies. In order to lead to a new equilibrium in social relations, this dialogue will need to be based on the understanding that women and members of faith groups are not only able to contribute to social cohesion but also have the right to expect equity in their social relations and equal citizenship in every context.

Recommendations

The following recommendations have been developed with the input of project leaders and members of the study's Advisory Group:

 Social cohesion policy should promote the model developed in this study, and particularly engagement at Level 4, for bridging activity between diverse groups and between citizens and local/national bodies. Policy that addresses social injustice and promotes a more level playing field between dominant and less powerful groups is more likely to address the root causes of social exclusion.

- Policy support and resources should be made available to enable people from excluded groups to identify local problems and work on solutions based on their own experiences.
 Specialist cohesion teams and others with responsibility for cohesion activity should adopt the participatory approach used in this study as a model to support local activity.
- Dedicated time for such cohesion activity should be resourced, particularly for women from minority faith backgrounds, who are less likely to be employed in such roles.
- Faith communities and women need to be involved in decision-making processes about local and national policy, not as 'guests' whose input can be defined and limited without negotiation, but as equal partners.
- Policy support and resources are needed for bonding activity within faith communities that enables the inclusion of women and gives them a stronger base from which to bridge to other groups. This support is particularly needed for women from minority faith groups.
- Within mainstream settings, a place for faith needs to be legitimised so that women from faith backgrounds can draw on their beliefs as a resource. Faith-based activity should not be excluded from public space, particularly if it supports the outcomes which mainstream organisations wish to achieve or gives women knowledge that would make them feel more confident to take part in intercultural activity.

Conclusions 43

- The climate of trust needed for policy debates involving faith communities to lead to shifts in position on both sides has yet to be established. This is particularly the case with Muslim communities that feel targeted by policymakers in ways that increase social exclusion.
- Policy on the participation of women in formal structures should be reviewed to accommodate women's conceptualisation of leadership as a grass-roots activity rather than a strategy-led or top-down system of influence. Policy that supports the development of trustful relationships between individuals and communities and between the state and citizens is more likely to increase civic participation and social action by women.
- The Joseph Rowntree Foundation should use its influence at national and local levels to ensure the recommendations from this report are implemented.

44 Conclusions

Notes

- 1 The term 'volunteer' is used to indicate that individuals led cohesion projects in unpaid time.
- 2 The term 'worker' indicates that individuals were in paid roles within which they could carry out cohesion activity.
- 3 The terms 'religion' and 'faith' are used interchangeably within this report to refer to people who are either affiliated to a religious community or who practise the teachings of a religion. It is recognised, however, that these terms may be distinguished (Commission on British Muslims and Islamophobia, 2004; Furbey, 2009)'.
- 4 See the model of 'bridging' activity in the report's Introduction.

Notes 45

References

Aspinall, P. and Jackson, B. (2004) Ethnic Disparities in Health and Health Care: A Focused Review and Selected Examples of Good Practice. Department of Health/London Health Observatory.

Bass, B. M. and Avolio, B. J. (1993) *Improving Organisational Effectiveness through Transformational Leadership*. London: Sage.

Bryman, A. (1992) *Charisma and Leadership in Organizations*. London: Sage.

Cattell, V. (2001) 'Poor people, poor places, and poor health: the mediating role of social networks and social capital', *Social Science and Medicine*, 52: pp. 1501–16.

Coleman, J. S. (1990) Foundations of Social Theory. Cambridge, MA: The Belknap Press of Harvard University Press.

Commission for Racial Equality (2007) *Promoting Interaction between People from Different Ethnic Backgrounds*. London: CRE.

Commission on British Muslims and Islamophobia (2004) *Islamophobia – issues, challenges and action*. Stoke-on-Trent: Trentham Books. Available online at: http://www.insted.co.uk/islam.html.

Commission on Integration and Cohesion (2007a) Our Shared Future. Wetherby: Communities and Local Government Publications.

Commission on Integration and Cohesion (2007b) Themes, Messages And Challenges: A Final Analysis Of Key Themes From The Public Consultation. Wetherby: Communities and Local Government Publications.

Darlow, A., Bickerstaffe, T., Burden, T., Green, J., Jassi, S., Johnson, S., Kelsey, S., Purcell, M., South, J. and Walton, F. (2005) Researching Bradford: A Review of Social Research on Bradford District. York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Department of Communities and Local Government (2007) What Works in Community Cohesion? Wetherby: Communities and Local Government Publications. Available online at: http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/communities/whatworks.

Department of Communities and Local Government (2008a) Community Cohesion and Neighbourhood Management: A Theme Report from the Neighbourhood Management: Pathfinders National Evaluation. Wetherby: Communities and Local Government Publications. Available online at: http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/communities/neighbourhoodmanagementcommunity.

Department of Communities and Local Government (2008b) *Communities in Control: Real People, Real Power.* London: The Stationery Office.

Department of Communities and Local Government (2008c) Face-to-Face and Side by Side: A Framework for Dialogue and Social Action in Our Multi Faith Society. London: Department of Communities and Local Government.

Department of Communities and Local Government (2008d) *The Government's Response to the Commission on Integration and Cohesion.*London: Department of Communities and Local Government.

Department of Communities and Local Government (2008e) *Guidance on Meaningful Interaction*.

London: Department of Communities and Local Government.

Forrest, R. and Kearns, A. (1999) *Joined-up Places? Social Cohesion and Neighbourhood Regeneration*. York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Furbey, R. and Macey, M. (2005) 'Religion and urban regeneration: a place for faith?', *Policy and Politics*, 33 (1): pp. 95–116.

46 References

Furbey, R., Dinham, A., Farnell, R., Finneron, D. and Wilkinson, G., with Howarth, C., Hussain, D. and Palmer, S. (2006) *Faith as Social Capital: Connecting or Dividing*. Bristol: The Policy Press.

Furbey, R. (2009). 'Controversies of public faith' in A. Dinham, R. Furbey and V. Lowndes, eds. *Faith in the Public Realm: Controversies, Policies and Practices*. Bristol: Policy Press, pp. 21–40.

Granovetter, M. (1973) 'The Strength of Weak *Ties'*, *American Journal of Sociology*, 78(6): pp. 1360–80.

Gronn P. (2000) 'Distributed properties: a new architecture for leadership', *Educational Management & Administration*, 28 (3): pp. 317–38.

Hamid, A. W. and Sherif, J. (eds) (2002) *The Quest for Sanity*. London: Muslim Council of Britain.

Home Office (2004a) The End of Parallel Lives? Report of the Community Cohesion Panel.

Home Office (2004b) Faith Groups in the Community – Working Together: Co-operation between Government and Faith Communities. Available online at: http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/communities/workingtogethercooperation2.

Home Office (2009) CONTEST: *The United Kingdom's Strategy for Countering International Terrorism*. London: The Stationery Office.

Institute of Community Cohesion http://www.cohesioninstitute.org.uk/Resources/AboutCommunityCohesion. Accessed April 2010.

Kakabadse, A. and Kakabadse, N. (1999) Essence of Leadership. London: Cengage Learning EMEA.

Kearns, A. and Forrest, R. (2000) 'Social Cohesion and Multilevel Urban Governance', *Urban Studies*, 39(4): pp. 995–1017.

Khan, K. (2009) Preventing Violent Extremism & PREVENT: A Response from the Muslim Community An-Nisa Society. London: An-

Nisa Society. Available online at: http://www.an-nisa.org/downloads/PVE_&_Prevent_-_A_Muslim_response.pdf.

Khanna, R. (1996) 'Participatory action research (PAR) in women's health: SARTHI, India', in K. De Koning and M. Martin M (eds), *Participatory Research in Health: Issues and Experiences*. London: Zed Books, pp. 62–71.

Kretzmann, J. and McKnight, J. (1996) 'Assetsbased community development', *National Civic Review*, 85 (4), pp. 23–9.

Levitas, R. (2005) *The Inclusive Society? Social Exclusion under New Labour*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.

Lewis, P. (2002) 'Between Lord Ahmed and Ali G: Which future for British Muslims', in W. Shadid and P. S. van Koningsveld (eds), *Religious Freedom and the Neutrality of the State: The Position of Islam in the European Union*, pp. 129–44. Leuven, Belgium: Peeters Publishers.

Local Government Association (2002) *Guidance on Community Cohesion*. London: Local Government Association.

Local Government Association (2009) Local authority engagement with faith groups and inter faith organisations. London: Local Government Association.

Lowndes, V. (2006) 'It's not what you've got but what you do with it: women, social capital and political participation', in B. O'Neill and E. Gidengil (eds) *Gender and Social Capital*, pp. 213–40. Abingdon: Routledge.

Macey, M. (2005) 'Religion, male violence, and the control of women', in H. Moghissi (ed.), *Women and Islam: Critical Concepts in Sociology*, pp. 369–79. Abingdon: Routledge.

Madanipour, A., Cars, G. and Allen, J. (eds) (1998) Social Exclusion in European Cities: Processes, Experiences and Responses. London: Jessica Kingsley.

References 47

Mir, G. and Sheikh, A. (in press) "Fasting and prayer don't concern the doctors... they don't even know what it is": Pakistani Muslim patients with long-term illnesses'. *Ethnicity and Health*.

Mir, G. and Tovey, P. (2003) 'Asian carers' experience of medical and social care: the case of cerebral palsy', *British Journal of Social Work*, 33: pp. 465–79.

Modood, T. (2008) *Multiculturalism*. Cambridge: Polity Press.

Modood, T., Berthoud, R., Lakey, J., Nazroo, J., Smith, P., Virdee, S. and Beishon, S. (1997) Ethnic Minorities in Britain: Diversity and Disadvantage. London: Policy Studies Institute.

Muslim News Issue 219, Friday 27 July 2007.

Nazroo, J. (1997) *The Health of Britain's Ethnic Minorities*. London: Policy Studies Institute.

Northouse, P. G. (2007) *Leadership: Theory and Practice*. London: Sage.

Orton, A. (2008) Evaluating Cross-Community Work in Holme Wood: Making Connections? York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Parekh, B. (2000) *Rethinking Multi-culturalism:*Cultural Diversity and Political Theory. Basingstoke: Macmillan.

Platt, L. (2005) *Migration and Social Mobility: The Llife Chances of Britain's Minority Ethnic Communities*. York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Putnam, R. (2000) *Bowling Alone: The Collapse and Revival of American Community.* New York: Simon and Schuster.

Raelin, J. A. (2003) Creating Leaderful Organizations: How to Bring out Leadership in Everyone. San Francisco: Berrett-Koehler. Rifkin, S. B., Lewando-Hundt, G. and Draper, A. K. (2000) *Participatory Approaches in Health Promotion and Health Planning. A Literature Review.* London: Health Development Agency.

Room, G. (1995) Beyond the Threshold: The Measurement and Analysis of Social Exclusion. Bristol: Policy Press.

Said, E. (1997) Orientalism. London: Penguin.

Scharf, T., Phillipson, C. and Smith, A. E. (2005) Multiple Exclusion and Quality of Life among Excluded Older People in Disadvantaged Neighbourhoods. London: Social Exclusion Unit, Office of the Deputy Prime Minister.

Skidmore, P., Bound, K. and Lownsbrough, H. (2006) *Do Policies to Promote Community Participation in Governance Build Social Capital?* York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation. Available online at: http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/do-policies-promote-community-participation-governance-build-social-capital.

Szreter, S. and Woolcock, M. (2004) 'Health by association? Social capital, social theory and the political economy of public health', *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 33: pp. 650–67.

48 References

Appendix I: Key informants and focus groups

Christian key informants (= 8; 7 in paid posts)	Anchor Project, St Clement's Church Bradford Cathedral Bradford Diocese Touchstone Methodist Centre Bradford Faiths Forum Bradford and District Women's Forum
Christian focus groups	Christian Interfaith Group
Hindu key informant (paid post)	Hindu Cultural Centre
Hindu focus group	Women's Group, Hindu Cultural Centre
Muslim key informants (= 10; 3 paid posts, 2 with short-term project funding, 5 voluntary activity)	Islamic Relief Communityspeak, Women Working Towards Excellence Islamic Society of Britain Chaplaincy, St Luke's Hospital Accent Community Partnerships Interfaith Education Centre Thornbury Mosque Khidmat Centre Byron St Mosque/Pollard Park Centre
Muslim focus groups	Womenzone Multimums: Muslim Women Converts – service users and staff Womenzone service users/management committee and staff
Key informants without religious affiliation (= 5; 4 paid posts)	Diversity Exchange BIASAN Women's Group/Drop In University of Bradford Bradford Vision
Mixed affiliation focus groups	Peace Studies, Gender and Interfaith group Newly arrived communities – Bradford College ESOL class
Sikh key informant (voluntary activity)	Guru Nanak Sikh Temple
Sikh focus group	Women's Group, Guru Gobind Singh Sikh Temple

Appendix 2: Project summaries

Lyrics 'n Friendship

Overview

A programme of musical, educational and participative performances involving eight Bradford schools.

Duration

14-17 November 2007

Summary

Eight Bradford schools were selected to be part of a national programme of performances by Dawud Wharmsby and Idris Phillips, two Canadian Muslim singer-songwriters. The performances drew out the themes of valuing uniqueness, tolerance and accepting difference, accessing inner strengths, the importance of charity, social awareness and promoting community activism. Songs and interaction with the children were used as a way of promoting positive messages about these themes.

Process

The programme was co-ordinated on a voluntary basis by a Muslim project leader working with the Islamic Society of Britain and Education Bradford. The original idea was to bring school pupils together at one venue for the performance at the beginning of Islam Awareness Week in 2007. However, through negotiation with schools and performers the final programme of events was based on the interests of particular schools. A large amount of practical and logistical work went into accommodating the artists and scheduling the programme.

Key findings and outcomes

- Schools showed a great deal of enthusiasm and interest in inviting artists to help them build cohesion and understanding.
- School pupils were enthused and motivated by being engaged in this way and gave very

- positive feedback on what they had learnt and on their general enjoyment of the performance.
- Engaging schoolchildren in this way around the theme of peace, tolerance and understanding, can form an ideal setting in which to bring together pupils from different backgrounds in a positive and progressive atmosphere.
- More work could have been done to ensure that the teachers were engaged; for example, providing preparatory and follow-up work with children through classroom activity before and after the performance to build on the themes promoted.

Sahara Support Group

Overview

Group work to support individual women from different backgrounds to overcome isolation and mental health problems.

Duration

November-December 2007

Summary

The project was based in Keighley but open to women from across Bradford District. The idea was to recruit women to the project by inviting them to a series of gatherings held every two weeks and facilitated by the two project coordinators. This was achieved through weekly sessions, and with a variety of different activities.

The sessions included planning the programme, sharing experiences in a safe setting, relaxation techniques and exercises, moral and practical support and guidance to access leisure opportunities and a shared meal. Participants were supported by the facilitators and encouraged to support each other and plan sessions according to their own needs and wishes.

Process

A Muslim and Christian project leader combined their ideas to support women with mental health problems. The project was initially planned to run in Bradford but project leaders agreed to a request to run the sessions in Keighley instead. This adversely

affected recruitment, even though the sessions were held at a key community association in Keighley. Meetings were held on a weekly basis.

Key outcomes and findings

- Small group work was helpful in creating a safe space for isolated individuals who related positively to each other as women despite their diverse backgrounds.
- Practical support for individuals was valued, as was sharing experiences within the group.
- Location and the project leaders' own networks were important in encouraging participation.
- Participants valued the sessions, which helped them to feel less isolated and able to learn from each other's experiences.

Stepping Stones

Overview

Providing a programme to bring Asian mothers and school staff together in a programme fostering greater understanding and communication.

Duration

January-April 2008

Summary

The project leader, a Muslim parent at the school, worked with women and staff from the school and a local mosque to develop a programme of nine sessions. These aimed to equip Asian women with the skills and confidence to interact with school staff on issues relating to the education of their children. Facilitated sessions covered various themes including confidence building, supporting children at school, dealing with racism, halal food and dietary issues, and sex education.

Process

The project leader had no previous experience of planning and delivering projects and was supported through the process by a researcher from the University of Leeds. She held a series of planning meetings with Asian mothers, school and mosque staff to prepare the basis for the

programme. Through these meetings, topics and the format of sessions were agreed. The sessions were run on a weekly basis, facilitated by school and mosque staff as well as the project leader. The entire programme was then evaluated, detailing the feelings and expectations of participants and satisfaction with the outcomes of the programme.

Key findings and outcomes

- There was interest and enthusiasm among both school staff and mothers to engage and learn from each other. Being taken seriously by school staff gave a positive message to Asian mothers.
- Building on the personal experiences of women was vital to helping women feel more confident about themselves. Learning about school policies and systems dispelled fears and confusion. Women also took the opportunity to raise the issue of racism in the school.
- The voice of Asian mothers in the school
 has increased. The project leader is now a
 member of the Parents' Forum and women
 from the group interact with a wider range
 of staff than before the programme, when
 they relied mostly on bilingual liaison staff.
- The school has organised IT classes for the women and is planning to re-run the programme next year. The work that has been done is being disseminated to other schools in the area.

UMMAH Project: Understanding Multi-cultural Marriage and Achieving Happiness

Overview

A six-week course for women in multi-ethnic marriages aimed at addressing issues and concerns, providing support and producing information and advice for the benefit of others.

Duration

October-November 2008

Summary

A confidence building and conflict resolution course was set up to equip women with skills they could use in their daily lives. The course provided a platform for the production of a booklet that recorded the participants' stories so that these could be made available to other women in similar life situations and professionals who could support them. The work aimed to provide a voice for women converts to Islam and help them overcome isolation and gain increased access to support.

Process

The project leader built on her own experience and previous work with a support group for women in multicultural marriages. The group suggested ideas for possible activities that would help them develop more positive relationships within their own and their husbands' families and communities. An unsuccessful attempt to engage with husbands led to the decision to run a sixweek course for the women themselves through the local relationship counselling service, Relate. After lengthy consultation with the participants, a booklet based on their stories, written up during the short course, was to be produced.

Key outcomes and findings

- Within faith communities, women and converts may face barriers to inclusion that can be addressed through targeted projects.
- Taking time to consult and pilot different ideas with participants is important in making sure the project will be successful.
- Attempting to work with people who do not wish to be involved can be difficult and may mean that a lower level of awarenessraising activity is more feasible.
- Equipping women with the confidence and skills to deal with conflict themselves is an important first step to supporting change to happen.
- Such work relates to deep-seated issues within communities and a single project is unlikely to achieve all the changes needed. However, it can provide a small step to addressing these.

Young Families in BD3

Overview

A parent and toddler group to encourage local mothers and children from diverse backgrounds to meet and develop friendships.

Duration

October 2007-October 2008

Summary

The programme was designed to encourage greater communication and understanding between mothers and children from different cultural and religious backgrounds. Two mother and toddler groups met each week and friendships were developed between women of different backgrounds in a safe environment for people to learn from each other. The two groups organised a joint trip to the seaside and also enjoyed joint celebrations.

Process

Interest in the project was expressed by six centres originally and included project leaders from Hindu, Muslim, Sikh and Christian backgrounds. However, the minority faith centres did not have an existing mother and toddler group or people with dedicated time to set this up so found it difficult to play an equal role in delivering the project. A strong link between two Christian centres helped encourage an existing toddler group to become more multicultural and built on the success of one project leader in developing an inclusive group.

Key outcomes and findings

- Parent and toddler groups can be used successfully as a platform to develop intercultural and interfaith relationships.
- Joint planning with partners from diverse communities needs to take account of their existing capacity and resources if they are to remain involved. Supporting those with less resources to develop their capacity may be an important first step in such partnerships.

- Learning from the success of an organisation that has developed an inclusive approach can help spread good practice within communities.
- Trying new approaches to develop intercultural work takes time and needs to be built into project planning.

Sharing Stories

Overview

A series of meetings for women to explore the issues of neighbours, families and climate change. The project used the faith perspectives of Muslim and Christian women to stimulate discussion about common ground between women from diverse backgrounds.

Duration

Three sessions during June 2008.

Summary

Around 20 women, many of whom had never met before, came together because of their common interest in sharing views about the themes of the meetings. Discussions drew on the personal experiences and concerns of women and the things they could do individually and collectively to make a difference. The group identified an issue relating to social justice and climate change; two group members agreed to take this forward to the local government Equality and Diversity forum.

Process

Project leaders were very experienced in intercultural activity involving women but it was a new experience for all of them to plan in an intercultural group. This aspect of the work took extra time. It was also difficult to deliver the project in voluntary time and funding was used to pay a development worker to organise the meetings and publicity. Evaluation forms were developed and completed by participants but project leaders did not have time to fully write up the meetings or analyse the evaluation feedback.

Key outcomes and findings

- The sessions provided an important opportunity to establish common ground and take social action. This built on the shared experiences participants had as women living in the same city.
- Faith perspectives helped draw out commonalities and did not exclude the participation of people without a faith view.
- Having someone with dedicated time to write up the discussion from meetings and evaluate the sessions would have increased the learning from the project.

The Joseph Rowntree
Foundation has supported this
project as part of its programme
of research and innovative
development projects, which it
hopes will be of value to policymakers, practitioners and service
users. The facts presented and
views expressed in this report
are, however, those of the
author[s] and not necessarily
those of the Foundation.

Joseph Rowntree Foundation The Homestead 40 Water End York YO30 6WP www.jrf.org.uk This report, or any other JRF publication, can be downloaded free from the JRF website (www.jrf. org.uk/publications/).

A CIP catalogue record for this report is available from the British Library. © University of Leeds 2010.

First published 2010 by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation

All rights reserved.
Reproduction of this report
by photocopying or electronic
means for non-commercial
purposes is permitted.
Otherwise, no part of this
report may be reproduced,
adapted, stored in a retrieval
system or transmitted by any
means, electronic, mechanical,
photocopying, or otherwise
without the prior written
permission of the Joseph
Rowntree Foundation.

ISBN: 978-185935-743-9

Designed by Draught
Associates
Project managed and typeset
by Cambridge Publishing
Management Ltd





Acknowledgements

We would like to thank everyone who supported and assisted with this study. We are particularly grateful to the project leaders, who worked with us to develop, deliver and evaluate their ideas for bringing people together, despite the many competing demands on their time and resources. We would also like to thank the key informants, focus group and Advisory Group members who generously gave us their time, suggestions and ideas. We are also grateful to the organisations and individuals that worked with us to develop the study and agreed to host projects. Further thanks to Bana Gora at the Joseph Rowntree Foundation and Richard Farnell at the University of Coventry for their support. Finally, we would like to thank the Joseph Rowntree Foundation for funding the study.

About the authors

Ghazala Mir is Head of the Centre for Health and Social Care and a Senior Research Fellow at the University of Leeds. Her research interests are health inequalities, social exclusion and policy development in these areas. Ghazala has a particular interest in participatory research that explores the best ways of meeting identified needs in practice. She is Director of the Ethnicity Training Network and currently sits on Advisory Boards at the Care Quality Commission and the Department of Health. She is a member of the National Advisory Group on Learning Disability and Ethnicity.

John Lawler is a Senior Lecturer at University of Bradford. He trained and practised as a social worker in local authorities before moving into policy and research, and then into academia. His research interests are management and leadership development generally and in public service organisations specifically, in user views of health and social care services, and in culture and crosscultural management.

Mary Godfrey is a Senior Research Fellow at the University of Leeds. Her research interests include preventive approaches to secure well-being in older age, the experience of ageing and later life mental health. Mary has a specific interest in processes for involving older people generally, and service users specifically, in research, service planning and development. Her published work includes a research study carried out in partnership with older people on life quality in particular places for the Joseph Rowntree Foundation, and a literature and policy review on depression in later life for Help the Aged, published by Policy Press.